Physics of Medicine, Life, and Medical Devices A Comprehensive Perspective for Advanced Diagnosis and Therapy

Editors

Baraa Ismail Ahmed Mansour

Department of Medical Physics, College of Science, AL_Mustaqbal University, Iraq

Saif Saad Hani Mutlak

Department of Medical Equipment Technology Engineerin, College of Medical Technology, Al-Farahidi University, Iraq

Diana Noori Yousif Abdullah

Department of Biophysics, College of Science, University of Mosul, Iraq

Munther Bashir Matar Allawi

Department of Medical Physics, College of Science, University of AL-Mustaqbal, Iraq

Dhuha Sahib Mahdi Ibrahim

Department of Medical Physics, College of Science, AL_Mustaqbal University, Iraq

Bright Sky Publications TM
New Delhi

Published By: Bright Sky Publications

Bright Sky Publication
Office No. 3, 1st Floor,
Pocket - H34, SEC-3,
Rohini, Delhi, 110085, India

Editors: Baraa Ismail Ahmed Mansour, Saif Saad Hani Mutlak, Diana Noori Yousif Abdullah, Munther Bashir Matar Allawi and Dhuha Sahib Mahdi Ibrahim

The author/publisher has attempted to trace and acknowledge the materials reproduced in this publication and apologize if permission and acknowledgements to publish in this form have not been given. If any material has not been acknowledged please write and let us know so that we may rectify it.

© Bright Sky Publications

Edition: 1st

Publication Year: 2025

Pages: 111

Paperback ISBN:

E-Book ISBN:

DOI: https://doi.org/10.62906/bs.book.445

Price: ₹554/-

Contents

S. No.	Chapters	Page No.
1.	Introduction to Medical Physics	01-04
2.	Fundamentals of Biophysics	05-27
3.	Medical Imaging Techniques	28-35
4.	Radiation Therapy	36-45
5.	Biomedical Sensors and Devices	40-45
6.	Therapeutic Applications of Physics	46-49
7.	Bioinformatics and Medical Data	50
8.	Nanotechnology in Medicine	51-52
9.	Ethics in Medical Physics	53-54
10.	Future Trends in Medical Devices	55-54
11.	Case Studies in Advanced Diagnosis	95
12.	Regulatory and Safety Aspects	96-97
13.	Interdisciplinary Approaches to Medical Physics	98-99
14.	Conclusion	100
	References	101-111

Abstract

Medical physics encompasses the application of physical principles, methods, and phenomena to medicine and biology. An understanding of foundations creates a common vocabulary to describe and analyze technical systems such as characterization of physical properties of biological systems, principles of sensing and actuation of biomedical devices, medical imaging equipment, and diagnostic and therapeutic applications.

Biophysics involves common physical principles that relate to biological processes, enabling informed design and application of additional methods in subsequent sections.

Medical tomography employs the penetration and detection of radiation to create slice images of an object, enabling subsequent reconstruction of a three-dimensional volume (see Section 3). Projection tomography utilizes a source and detector at different positions on opposite sides of the imaging target; rotation around the target supplies a series of projection images that can be combined to generate a three-dimensional image (see Section 3.1). In tomography, a detector rotates with the source, enabling slice images of the target (see Sections 3.2 and 6.3).

In external beam radiation treatment, radiation is applied to the patient from a source located outside the body. Internal radiation treatments involve application of a radioactive source internally, close to the tumor. Physical agents such as ultrasound, heat, and electromagnetic waves are utilized therapeutically in sound, cryotherapy, microwave, and laser therapies. Lasers serve both diagnostic and therapeutic purposes in medicine.

Chapter - 1

Introduction to Medical Physics

Medical physics is an applied branch of physics that combines expertise from physics, mathematics, biology, anatomy, and physiology to support healthcare involving radiation. Physicians trained in medical physics techniques typically serve as consultants to healthcare professionals, providing guidance essential for medical imaging and radiation treatment. The discipline is experiencing rapid growth due to ongoing advances in diagnostic imaging, radiotherapy, and nuclear medicine, which continue to revolutionize patient diagnosis and treatment worldwide. Despite many medical physics applications being directly linked to healthcare involving radiation, the role of medical physics extends broadly throughout human health and well-being.

Medical physics represents an interdisciplinary and multiprofessional field, wherein validated knowledge and techniques derived from physics are effectively utilized to address and provide solutions for fundamental biological or clinical challenges. This unique positioning makes it an exceptional bridge connecting the realms of physical sciences, which are focused on generating new knowledge in the discipline of physics, and clinical medicine or biology, which aim to obtain immediate access to this invaluable knowledge. The discipline of medical physics requires practitioners who possess not only a profound and current understanding of physics and the various physical methods available but also an insightful comprehension of clinical needs and the evolving trends present within the life sciences. It is evident that a robust physics education provides an excellent foundation for aspiring medical physicists. Most graduate-level educational programs masterfully integrate general lectures discussing various topics in physics and physiological systems with specialized modules focusing on specific clinical applications, such as advanced imaging techniques or sophisticated radiotherapy practices. This blend of study is critical in preparing individuals to tackle real-world medical challenges effectively [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7].

Biophysics is an interdisciplinary science that applies the approaches and methods of physics to the study of biological systems. Biophysics covers all scales of biological organization, from molecular to population level. Biophysical research shares significant overlap with biophysical chemistry and the biomolecular research pursued in various biological physics departments. In general, the subjects and methods of biophysics combine techniques from physics and biology. The study of the structure of biomolecules is a common example of this interdisciplinary nature of biophysics. The principles of quantum mechanics, electromagnetism, thermodynamics, classical mechanics, relativity, and statistical mechanics are all essential to biophysics. Application of physics to biological problems also contributes to the development of new disciplines such as bioinformatics and systems biology.

Biophysicists study the organization of physical, chemical, and critical processes involved in the flow of information, formation, and self-assembly in biological systems. These cover all levels of biological organization, molecular, cellular, and multicellular.

Thermodynamics is the study of the flow and transformation of heat and work. It has been used to describe the physics of death and usefully analyzes human aging as a process of running down. It analyzes protein folding and the function of molecular machines in the cell and thus provides the foundation for the field of biological thermodynamics honoring one of the pioneers in the field, H. E. H. Pattee [1].

Biophysics is the study of biological systems using the methods and theories of physics. The living world offers a spectacular range of phenomena to study, many of them do not fall strictly within the realm of classical physics, such as how proteins exploit the force of electric fields, how information is passed onto other generations without violating the principles of thermodynamics or how mechanics and optics can be mended to reveal the trajectory of small objects [2]. Biological systems are particular challenging to study and understand, because, for the most part, they are far from thermodynamic equilibrium and involve macroscopic numbers of degrees of freedom, which evolve nonlinearly in time. General properties of all living systems must nevertheless be based on laws of nature, and can be formulated as a physical theory. The fact that biological systems, sophisticated and subtle physical processes demonstrates the central place of physics within biology. By further understanding the link between biology and physic a more solid and vigorous basis for biology can be provided. These fundamental groups of laws and techniques include: thermodynamics, electricity, optics, mechanics, atomic physics, spectroscopy, and statistical mechanics.

Biological processes operate within principle frameworks that govern all life in equilibrium or away from it. While the law of mass action and the concept of equilibrium constants can capture some equilibrium processes, the vast majority of biological processes generate order, structure, and patterns far away from equilibrium and require a much more general framework. Modern thermodynamics provides such tools, with free energy spending on biological functions being a direct application to cellular function [3].

Living systems are defined by the movement of ions, large organic solutes, energy, and other free energy providing molecules across cell boundaries. It is through semi-permeable layers that the interior of living objects manages to create and maintain order away from equilibrium and so only through thermodynamic considerations can some understanding be gained. For the same reason, most of biological thermodynamics are still far from equilibrium thermodynamics and are only just beginning to emerge from their phenomenological roots ^[4].

Chapter - 2

Fundamentals of Biophysics

Biological systems possess unique characteristics compared to other physical systems, and specialized physical concepts are required to analyze them optimally. Many phenomena in nature can be understood with classical concepts, but at the microscopic scale of most biological structures, modern concepts such as those from quantum mechanics and statistical mechanics become indispensable. For example, these modern frameworks provide insightful definitions of temperature and entropy, which are crucial for analyzing living beings. Hence, a foundational understanding of both classical and modern principles forms the bedrock of biophysics.

The discussion of kinetics and dynamics in biophysics complements that of basic thermodynamics by demonstrating the significance of energetic processes in biological systems. These processes are often chemical reactions, transport, or molecular movement, and the laws governing such reactions, transport, and motion apply here.

During a chemical or physical process, the Gibbs free energy of the system decreases. The Gibbs free energy change is a macrocosmic thermodynamic property and does not reveal details about the mechanism of the reaction or the route the molecular system takes during the transformation. Living organisms are not only useful as an energy source and buffer for rapid energy changes but also capable of controlling enzyme activity at almost every stage of metabolism.

The main molecular components in biological systems are relatively well known and include DNA, proteins, lipids, and carbohydrates. Molecular biophysics addresses the physical, chemical and conformational properties of these systems, bridging the structure and function of the polymeric molecules to the larger-scale aspects of biophysics within the organism or population of organisms [1].

Proteins represent a particularly important class of molecular species as the biological 'worker' molecules. All proteins consist of linear polymeric backbones of amino acid residues. In terms of their biological function, however, the linear polymeric nature of a protein is rarely important, and it is instead the unique spatial arrangement of these residues – the *three-dimensional* protein structure – that determines function. Understanding the structurefunction relationships of such proteins therefore forms the principal part of molecular biophysics. The packing of the protein into its unique structural arrangement is referred to as protein folding and is a substantial scientific field in its own right, the emphasis being on identifying the forces that initiate folding and determining the physical reason for the particular threedimensional conformation. DNA and RNA molecules comprise polymeric backbones of phosphate, sugar and bases. Although there are many parallels with proteins, these polymeric chains are not readily packed into highly compact three-dimensional folds - only short polymer regions of *three-dimensional* structure are observed. The problem of relating *three-dimensional* structure with the biological functions of nucleic acid chains is therefore quite different from that of proteins; in this case the most important general problem is the search for sequencespecific intermolecular interactions (e.g. base pairing in DNA) and for the physical properties of sequence-dependent flexibility and elasticity of the polymer (single molecule techniques for addressing these and other questions are discussed in Section 4).

Biophysical studies of membrane functions revolve principally around enquiries into the nature of intermolecular (hydrophobic) forces, the physical behaviour of bilayers and the inter-actions of proteins with membranes in all the various forms of membrane-bound macromolecular complex. This enormous field falls more naturally into the "Cellular and Organismic Biophysics" coverage of this book (Section 6) and detailed coverage can therefore be helpful in bridging from the macrovariables of protein expression, such as initiation and transcription, to the molecular basis of function.

Protein structures are crucial to understanding biological processes such as transportation, catalysis, signaling, and energy production ^[5]. Classifying these structures reveals governing principles and aids applications in structural biology and bioinformatics. Moreover, knowledge of protein conformations facilitates the design of therapeutics like inhibitors and peptide drugs, as well as the development of biomaterials. Typically, classification methods focus on main-chain conformations and evolutionary history, uncovering a limited number of folds and their genomic distributions. Mapping protein structures into lowdimensional spaces according to structural similarities produces clustering coherent with fold classes. Complementary approaches analyze the 3D surface shapes of proteins and complexes rather than main-chain configurations. Employing surface shape representations enables discovery of relationships among shape, fold class, and assembly. Investigations using 3D Zernike Descriptors identify key features such as eccentricity, domain count, and symmetry groups that influence protein shape. These analyses also show elongated forms tend to assemble into multimers and reveal shape characteristics unique to complexes. Such findings contribute to a comprehensive understanding of the mechanisms underlying protein construction, evolutionary trajectories, and design principles.

Nucleic acids like DNA and RNA are molecules present in all life forms, mainly used to encode biological information. In fact, the structure of DNA was crucially informed by early points of view on regularity and information encoding; that perspective guided Watson and Crick toward discovering the double helix. On the other hand, the unique material properties of DNA attract material scientists and nanotechnologists, who have developed striking new nanotechnologies such as DNA origami ^[6].

DNA is an organic polymer made of four different monomers containing phosphate, sugar, and bases A, T, C, and G. The bases are aromatic compounds that form hydrogen bonds; regarding base pairing, A pairs with T and G with C. The sequence of bases is aperiodic, although the structure exhibits periodic features. Each strand of DNA is irregular, containing 4N possible base patterns; hence, the binary coding capacity is 2N bits. Double-stranded DNA forms through base pairing, featuring four base pairs per helical turn, and contains the same informational content as single strands. This configuration is used nearly universally to encode genetic information.

DNA's properties include charge transfer, which is strongly dependent on its electronic structure and functional groups. Differential equilibrium populations lead to electron-hole asymmetries that, together with pseudo-Jahn-Teller modes, selectivity charge control the of transfer in polyguanine/polycytosine DNA [7]. Models of charge transfer usually rely on single one-band approximations, which describe a single charge moving through the DNA core. More complex processes charge-transfer require sophisticated model Hamiltonians such as extended-Hubbard models.

At mesoscopic length and time scales, DNA is a moleculardynamical system that belongs to the broad class of so-called soft matter. Given that charges move along DNA via quantummechanical tunnelling, a realistic investigation of charge-transfer processes needs to include the effects of the dynamical environment through which the charge must travel. Polaronic theories can fit some experiments without too many computational costs but represent an oversimplification that disregards the important fact that DNA is a complex system characterized by strongly non-linear and quasi-continuum dynamics. As a consequence, the motion of the DNA lattice cannot be described by any deterministic equation.

Biological membranes are composed of a double lipid layer interspersed with proteins. The atoms vibrating in these molecules generate a broad spectrum of electromagnetic radiation. When Ultraviolet (UV), visible, or Infrared (IR) light is directed at the membrane, various vibrational processes efficiently capture particular wavelengths and convert them to heat. Heat also is produced as the myriad chemical reactions in the cell occur.

Heat, infrared, or millimeter-wave radiation that bathes a living cell or organism causes membrane molecules to bend or stretch. Like hitting a tuning fork, a laser pulse can excite a particular vibration mode. Because each molecule vibrates at specific frequencies, various vibrational modes can be excited, and the membrane molecules respond differently to the same incident electrical radiation. Any change in the lipid composition of a membrane, for example, results in altered vibrational modes and thus in a change in membrane responsiveness to IR or millimeter-wave signals. One immediate consequence of changes in membrane composition is a decline in the ability of the cell to detect its environment and respond properly.

Numerous experimental techniques have proven essential in delineating the details of biomolecules and their interactions. Spectroscopy utilizes the absorption and emission of light to determine concentrations of substances as well as molecular characteristics. Various techniques such as absorbance, elastic scattering, circular dichroism, fluorescence, Raman scattering, and X-ray diffraction provide insights into molecular quantification, conformations, and structures. Circular dichroism is particularly useful for characterizing the folding of proteins and nucleic acids.

Microscopy employs systems of lenses to enlarge images of microscopic forms. Bright-field microscopy enhances contrast between specimens and their surroundings using dyes or phase-contrast optics ideal for living cells. Fluorescent molecules enable the visualization of specific components within fixed or living samples. Confocal and multi-photon microscopy techniques allow optical sectioning and imaging of thick specimens. Electron microscopy utilizes electron beams instead of light to achieve nanometer-scale resolution, revealing detailed ultrastructural features.

Calorimetry quantifies thermodynamic parameters governing molecular processes. Differential scanning calorimetry measures heat capacity changes with temperature, determining transition temperatures, enthalpies, entropies, and Gibbs free energies. Isothermal titration calorimetry assesses heat released or absorbed during molecular interactions, defining binding affinities, enthalpies, and entropies.

X-ray crystallography determines atomic structures by analyzing diffraction patterns produced when X-rays scatter off electrons in oriented crystallized molecules. High-resolution atomic information elucidates the architecture of proteins, nucleic acids, and various complexes [8].

Spectroscopy studies how light interacts with matter, thereby probing atoms, molecules, liquids, and solids. Different regions of the electromagnetic spectrum yield distinct data. Optical and ultraviolet wavelengths reveal the electronic structure of materials, whereas infrared radiation is sensitive to vibrational degrees of freedom. Microwave spectroscopy began in 1934 when C. H. Townes and colleagues observed the ammonia absorption spectrum. Emphasis quickly focused on pure rotational motion of gas-phase species in the centimeterwavelength region [9]. The frequency range from 1 to 100 THz defines the far infrared terahertz (THz) region intermediate between the microwave and infrared bands. Here rotational and vibrational degrees of freedom have similar energies, and THz radiation shares properties of both microwave and infrared waves. Far-infrared emission from the Galactic center was detected in the early 1960s, and laser-based spectroscopy from CO2-pumped FIR lasers emerged in the 1970s. The availability of intense, tunable THz sources has made the past decade an exciting one for THz spectroscopy. Nevertheless, it is still difficult to create widely tunable, high-power THz radiation at room temperature. The THz spectral region contains very rich scientific information but historically has lacked good radiation sources. This absence inspired the term the "gap in the electromagnetic spectrum." Widely employed THz sources suffer from intrinsic limitations due to the very long lifetimes of spontaneous emission and from parasitic losses within devices, which greatly reduce output. The difficulties encountered in generating high-quality, tunable THz sources impede scientific such chemical physics, astrophysics, as cosmochemistry, and planetary science, all of which depend on high-resolution THz spectroscopy. In the technological arena THz sources could enable ultrafast signal processing and highvolume data transmission. The THz frequency range is well suited to probing low-energy light-matter interactions, including molecular rotational transitions, phonons in solids, plasma dynamics, and electronic fine structures.

Electron beams and visible light often illuminate the route to nanoscale spatial resolution. From 1931, when Ernst Ruska recognised the promise of electron optics, electron microscopy has exceeded the contrast and resolution obtained by light microscopy. The scanning tunnelling microscope (STM, 1981) and the atomic force microscope (AFM, 1986) heralded the beginnings of superresolution (the construction of images with a resolution beyond the diffraction-limit of light). The former allowed atoms to be visualized for the first time and the latter provided the means to study structures in physiologically relevant environments. Combinations of techniques increasingly routine, for instance STM combined with spectroscopy, the AFM with fluorescence microscopy and electron microscopy with energy dispersive X-ray analysis [10]. Nevertheless, in biological systems, light microscopy has proved central. Because the resolution ε of an optical microscope is limited by the wavelength of light λ (typically 400–700 nm) as

$$\varepsilon \approx \lambda/2N.A.$$

a finite aperture of the imaging optics is assumed. A large number N.A. (numerical aperture) ≈ 1.4 leads to a resolution of 180 nm. This classical limit is far larger than the structure of many biological objects of interest. Cells and organelles, as well as many macromolecules, are typically measured in tens of nanometres. Consequently, advances in the qualitative and quantitative imaging of cells have been fundamental in our understanding of life at the atomic scale.

Biophysical investigations of living systems necessitate an accurate characterization of the thermodynamic variables that define biochemical and biophysical processes. Calorimetry measures heat flux between a sample and its surroundings as a function of a controlled thermodynamic variable such as time, temperature, or pressure, thereby enabling quantitative access to

the enthalpy rather than the free energy of a system ^[11]. For cellular systems, the enthalpy of the processes at work is an approximation of the metabolic heat from which reaction mechanisms and thermodynamics can be inferred.

X-ray crystallography has been instrumental in determining the three-dimensional structure of many biomolecules. When being radiated with X-ray, a crystal diffracts X-ray in a pattern that encodes the structure of the crystal. Due to the periodic nature of the crystal, the diffraction pattern can be well described by a two-dimensional image recorded in the detecting device. The intensities of the diffraction spots are measured. However, the phases of diffracted X-ray are lost during the measurement. The phases and intensities together represent the full information about the structure of the crystal. Therefore, a phase retrieval method is required to retrieve this missing piece of information. A separated model or a homologous model are usually needed. The separated model is usually a simple molecule that meets the demands of the method, for example, selenium-metionine residue is used for the single-wavelength anomalous dispersion method. The non-equivalent selenium atom could serve as a marker of the target molecule. In contrast, the homologous model is a similar known structure, whose relationship to the target structure is unknown.

Living systems are dependent on molecular interactions that enable biomolecules to sense and respond to their environments. In addition to maintaining a stable fold, biopolymers must bind other molecules to trigger a cellular response. Molecular interaction is thus a fundamental problem in molecular biophysics ^[12]. Molecular recognition is exemplified by two notions from enzyme and receptor-ligand kinetics two fields upon which much of molecular–cellular biophysics rests ^[13].

Within the cell, environments are complex and fluid, and molecules often adopt many conformations. A given biomolecule

samples a rapidly fluctuating local environment comprised of other biopolymers, small molecules, solvent (water), ions, and so on, such that the biomolecule enjoys many opportunities for inter-molecular contacts. Interactions between atoms in different molecules are governed by the same physical principles that describe interactions within molecules, making it possible to understand molecular interactions in terms of few fundamental laws. From these principles, one obtains explanations for how proteins fold into stable three-dimensional structures; bind other molecules in order to trigger cellular change; act as enzymes within metabolic and regulatory pathways; and ultimately, other physiological in many participate Computational approaches, including both physics-based simulations and data-mining methods, are particularly well suited study of molecular interactions, from protein conformational changes to cellular-scale assemblies. The physical realism of a simulation and the evolutionary realism of a machine-learning method are, in many senses, complementary sources of information. In any case, biomolecular function extends naturally from three-dimensional structure dynamics, which in turn are encoded in biopolymer sequences and modulated through interactions with ligands and other biopolymers.

The molecular interactions that characterize biological activity are inherently dynamic, and are often naturally described in terms of a time-dependent change of the interacting system's state. Consequently, the kinetic description of biological processes is among the key components of the biophysics framework. Traditionally limited to the time and type of nuclear decay, the application of kinetics in biology extends to encompassing a wide variety of physical and chemical processes. The intricate complexity that occurs in the biochemical reaction paths that take place in cells is amenable to the principle of

treating the steps in the reaction sequence as first-order surrogate reactions.

One of the initial areas of biophysics research focused on enzyme activity and enzymatic kinetics. Enzymes act as biological catalysts, accelerating the rates of chemical reactions that take place in the absence of catalysts. The enzyme systems often studied within biophysical contexts include: (i) protein folding and activity, (ii) enzymatic activities and reaction paths, (iii) regulation of transcription that induces enzymatic activities, and (iv) bacteriorhodopsin bacterium interactions. Not only can enzymes, being catalysts, be detected and manipulated in predictable ways and used as relatively simple model systems, but, from a biological standpoint, their response is also essential to understanding the internal workings of some of the better known features of molecular biology.

Receptor-ligand interactions constitute a fundamental mechanism for cell communication and play important roles in biological processes such as signal transduction, immune response, tissue development, and cancer metastasis [14]. Characterizing these interactions is therefore essential for understanding cellular mechanisms and for guiding the design of drugs and pharmaceuticals.

The kinetics of receptor-ligand binding is described by three parameters: the on-rate, the off-rate, and the binding affinity. One commonly used technique, surface plasmon resonance (SPR), measures receptor-ligand binding by detecting changes in the mass of immobilized receptors or ligands in solution. Although SPR is a powerful tool for in vitro analysis, it fails to reproduce an essential aspect of in vivo receptor-ligand interactions. Membrane receptors and ligands are anchored to two opposing surfaces, and their binding thus occurs in a narrow intercellular space. These two-dimensional (2D) receptor-ligand interactions

are governed not only by the binding kinetics of the receptors and ligands, but also by membrane adhesion, thermal membrane roughness, and the membrane environment of the molecules. Reflecting these complexities, SPR data systematically deviate from corresponding 2D data for the same receptor-ligand system. Several approaches have therefore been developed to measure 2D receptor-ligand binding kinetics. These approaches include the micropipette adhesion frequency method, the thermal fluctuation method, flow chamber assays, and fluorescence-based techniques. 2D receptor-ligand binding kinetics measured with these methods depend on additional parameters such as external forces and membrane separation and fluctuations.

Cells are fundamental units in biology. The cellular structure is maintained by a complex mixture of stiff and flexible polymers. A mechanical principle therefore plays a central role in intracellular mechanics and cell motility. The mechanism of the force generation for essential biological functions such as muscle contraction and driving of the mitotic spindle is a prominent example. In the case of muscle, a biological machine generates force by the interaction between the filaments of myosin and actin. This system is almost identical in function to that of muscle, or more generally that responsible for cellular deformation and motility. In order to generate contraction in the absence of the polarity of the actin filaments, the randomlyoriented bundle has to shorten its length simultaneously with fixed boundary conditions. This problem of competition between shortening and boundary conditions is the essence of contraction in a bundle of actin filaments such as the one found in the cytoskeleton [15].

Mechanical forces acting on cells and accompanying biological responses can be investigated on the global scale of complete cells and tissues or at the level of molecular components. Although the cell has some properties of a passive polymer or colloid in its elastic and viscoelastic behaviours, the degree of biochemical activity in the cell necessitates the application of the same modern principles to the study of a single cell as are used in the investigation of the mechanics of a whole engineered device, e.g. a suspension of fuel cells in a rocket.

Wide varieties of techniques have been developed to investigate the response of cells to mechanical stress. Applied mechanical stresses in the physiological range include those generated during cell migration and tissue morphogenesis, for example, during neurite migration and branching. Other related investigations concern the response of cells to cyclic mechanical stress in joints and the heart that influences their growth and function (e.g., the growth of cartilage and smooth muscle). An upper limit to the size of cells results from the increasing difficulty of transport of substances produced at the centre of the cell outwards to the periphery as the size increases. To meet the mechanical requirements of strength, movement and shape changes, associated with their functional requirements, the cells of higher organisms generate a more complex cellular design than do simpler unicellular organisms such as paramecium, euglena and the amoebae.

When studying any branch of science, quantitative analysis is based on scaffolding provided by a core set of fundamental principles that is the basis for the science. The same is true for biophysics, where a set of basic principles governs all of the "exceptionally complex biochemical and cellular apparatus" of life's processes. Beginning with mechanics, the field of applied to living systems has acquired the name. The application of classical mechanics to human and animal movement dates back to Borelli, and the challenge is the same today as it was in his time how to apply a precise and mature science to imprecise and very complex human beings. Today, the emphasis is on cellular and organismal mechanics. Manuscripts on molecular biophysics

appear every week and are concerned with the physical behavior of biomolecules in solution and with chemical and physical properties on a molecular scale. In contrast, manuscripts that deal with mechanics at higher levels of organization are comparatively rare. For example, the application of mechanics to whole-body systems widely understood to be a classic biophysical problem is represented by only a small fraction of the volume of manuscripts devoted to biomolecules.

The emergence of new methods of quantitative movement analysis in the nineteenth century, certainly the earliest being filming of the moving subject, marks an important step toward quantitative analysis of natural voluntary movement. The 1960s saw the development of a body of quantitative data describing steady-state human locomotion, but interpretations of these data were limited, and the restrictions remain relevant today [16, 17].

Ion channels form membrane nanopores through which ions move by diffusion; they underlie electrical signaling in neurons, muscles, and other excitable cells. The currents through ion channels give rise to the action potentials responsible for propagation of nerve impulses along axons. These action potentials allow for fast and efficient transmission of signals over up Electrophysiology distances of to several metres. encompasses the study of the basic properties of ion channels and the more complex process of action-potential generation and propagation [18].

An excitable cell describes a living cell whose plasma membrane contains voltage-dependent ion channels responsible for firing action potentials beyond a particular threshold voltage of the membrane. Models mimicking natural processes governing resting and excitable cell membrane behaviour serve to reinforce the concept that basic knowledge of simple electrical circuits provides the foundation for such modelling [19].

Ion channels protein pores that span cell membranes serve as primary regulators of charged particle movement through the membrane. They enable selective flow of physiologically significant ions (Na+, K+, Ca++, Cl-), thereby controlling an array of biological functions. Many distinct types exist in each membrane; most remain closed at any given moment. Open conduct according channels current to the electrodiffusion and exhibit an array of ion-permeation properties and channel gating behaviors [20]. Focusing on potassium (K+) channels, which are permeable exclusively to K+ through an aqueous pore, yields insight into the mechanisms underlying permeation and gating. The permeation process emerges from the channel structure, the dynamics of the protein, and the coordinated motion of multiple ions [21]. The properties of K+ channels appear optimized to sustain efficient K+ flow without sacrificing ligand-gating sensitivity and cation discrimination.

Action potentials constitute the fundamental signaling modality of excitable cells such as neurons and muscle and accompany processes as diverse as cognition, molecular release, locomotion and sensory transduction ^[22]. The underlying mechanisms defy an explanation relying on electrical signaling alone, pointing instead to an interplay between ion currents and cellular mechanical variations ^[19]. These observations resonate with the general picture that both electrical and mechanical stimuli can trigger cellular responses, and that the datum are consistent with water and solute transport across the membrane.

Voltage is a potential difference or electric tension expressed in Volts. In living cells, it always corresponds to the potential of the cytosol relative to the extracellular medium. Resting nerve cell bodies tend to exhibit a voltage of about -70 mV, while axons, depending on their diameter and myelination status, typically span a range from -40 mV to -70 mV; these resting

potentials correspond to a polarized, separated, and aligned distribution of charges on either side of the cell membrane.

Computational tools developed in theoretical physics can be applied to a wide variety of biological problems. For these applications the term computational biophysics is used to distinguish itself from the more general term of bioinformatics. Computational biophysics embraces a broad range of topics starting with molecular dynamics simulations. Molecular dynamics simulations allow microscopic study of systems difficult to access with experiments while retaining the complexity of actual biomolecules. When complemented with theory, simulations also provide the means to study the underlying physical mechanisms of biological phenomena. Bioinformatics encompasses a different set of methods that are usually designed to deal with large quantities of experimental data. Examples include methods to search within large databases for structural patterns, or computational techniques designed to help analyze or understand the results of large experiments such as sequencing. Bioinformatics also address the analysis of largescale systems. Analysis of genomic and proteomic experimental data is an example of large-scale problems restricted to biology. The analysis of large-scale networks of chemical or electrical activity, on the other hand, could include non-biological systems such as the Internet, electrical grids or movie stars [23].

Molecular dynamics simulations explore the time evolution of molecular systems by solving Newton's equations of motion. Combined with molecular mechanics or force fields calibrated against experimental measurements and quantum-chemical calculations, these simulations provide a fundamental approach for investigating the structure, elasticity, interactions, and dynamics of biomolecules. Molecular dynamics simulations are extensively used to study biomolecular spatial and temporal fluctuations, addressing phenomena such as protein—drug

interactions and protein folding/unfolding. Typical simulations span micro- to millisecond durations, with time steps in the femtosecond range. Techniques like bond constraint algorithms enhance sampling efficiency. Force fields contain mathematical functions associated with empirical parameters that collectively describe the system's potential energy, including intramolecular (bonds, angles, dihedral contributions torsions) intermolecular effects (electrostatic, van der Waals). Bonded forces primarily determine molecular conformation, with electrostatic cutoff distances exceeding those for van der Waals interactions. Multiple force fields exist for proteins, nucleic acids, and organic molecules; prominent software packages include AMBER, CHARMM, GROMACS, and NAMD, each equipped with scalable, efficient algorithms. Advances in load balancing and algorithmic efficiency have enabled simulations on the microsecond timescale. Markov state models aid analysis by identifying conformational states and computing transition rates, facilitating the interpretation of long-timescale molecular dynamics. Applications encompass protein folding, enzymeinhibitor binding, free energy calculations, and the reconstruction of free energy landscapes through generalized ensemble simulations and metadynamics. These methods have been successfully employed to investigate protein behavior, DNA flexibility, and molecular interactions [24, 25].

Although originally envisaged as the quantitative application of physical principles to biological systems, the rapid development of biological knowledge and experimental techniques has placed biophysics in a broader context between biology, physics, chemistry and mathematics. The interest of physical scientists has transferred from the development of a theory of the cell to the problems of structure of macromolecules and their interaction mechanisms. The field of 'molecular biophysics', which emerged with the elucidation of the molecular

bases of biological phenomena, addresses a wide range of questions about the organisation and activity of proteins, nucleic acids and membranes.

Significant contributions to biological knowledge have been made by the various techniques of analysis and manipulation which physical science has introduced into the life sciences. Structural studies at electron, X-ray or neutron wavelengths and approaches to molecular function based on their physicochemical properties all illustrate the point. Many of these directions require a firm understanding of the fundamental physical, chemical and mechanical properties of the basic molecular units of biological organisms; a cluster of key issues is involved in the description of the molecular structure and function of biological materials and the principles of structural biochemical organisation [26]. The power of molecular biology to probe and manipulate single macromolecules has also produced much work on the influence of molecular forces and deformation upon the behaviour of molecular units and of multi-molecular constructs.

A parallel approach, which provides great insight into the behaviour of molecular systems, is to construct a specific model of the system under investigation and then apply the theory, within the range of its validity, to extract consequences which can be related to experimental results [27].

Biophysics addresses living systems within the frameworks of unique collective and nonequilibrium physics, positioning itself as a bridge between biology and existing physics. Pragmatically, biophysics focuses on the wide range of problems in biology concerned with molecules, providing the link between molecular physics and molecular biology and serving as the starting point for the study of living organisms. Using the previously described concepts, interactions, and techniques, the principles of biophysics are directly relevant for a number of

quantitative and societally important problems, including rational methods for drug design and developments in medical nanotechnology ^[2, 23].

Interactions between biomolecules are foundation for all biological function; thus, understanding them at atomic level represents the ultimate goal of science. Molecular recognition, the physical interaction between molecules such as proteinligand and protein-protein binding, governs most biological processes and has major implications for drug discovery [28]. As a direct consequence, the design of new drugs, known as rational drug design, has become a more accurate and efficient process than trial-and-error screening. Computer-Aided Drug Design (CADD) is an efficient and economical alternative to highthroughput screening, and it involves different techniques to simulate drug-target interactions [29]. Computational methods provide detailed insight into drug-target binding interactions and compute binding energies, contributing to a better understanding of binding mechanisms. This information allows for subsequent optimization of lead compounds in the drug design pipeline to improve specificity and activity. Despite its potential, CADD alone cannot be used as the only strategy to design new drugs; however, it offers a valuable advantage in targeting potential compounds, saving considerable time and money.

Nanotechnology, the development of materials and devices at the scale of 1–100 nm, has facilitated revolutionary advances in medicine. Materials reduced to the nanoscale exhibit altered physiochemical and biological properties driven by a large surface area–to–volume ratio, which in turn affects transport properties and biological interactions [30]. Nanomedicine exploits these effects to enable single-cell targeting and repair, contrasting with conventional therapies that typically affect groups of diseased cells simultaneously. A multitude of specialized subdisciplines has emerged including nanooncology,

nanoneurology, nanocardiology, nanoorthopedics and nanoophthalmology. Relevant capacitates include modulation of immune responses and improved tissue engineering and regenerative medicine, with considerable promise of personalized treatment and enhanced effectiveness against numerous diseases.

Nanotechnological tools and techniques continue to advance rapidly. Examples include lab-on-a-chip devices, which enable compound screening or single-molecule assays, as well as highly sensitive sensors capable of detecting frequency variations in harmonic oscillators [31]. Atomic force microscopy furthermore distance resolutions achieves around 100 attometers substantially below a chemical bond length - providing an extraordinarily precise probe of underlying biological systems. Nanobiotechnological developments thus furnish increasingly comprehensive capabilities for the engineering of biomolecular processes, while the complementary field of nanoinformatics furnishes information science approaches for development and deployment, geared towards a systems medical paradigm.

The definition of ethics that would be most applicable to biophysics research is "basic principles that govern a person's behavior or conducting of an activity." Although ethics in biophysics research seems inescapable, it is seldom discussed or even defined. An overarching question is how much regulation and ethical obligation can be placed on researchers before it takes the breath out of researcher goodwill. Biophysical research has the potential to touch everyone; it is therefore important for researchers to apply ethical principles in a transparent manner [32]. The possibility arises that ethics, as a field of study, could become synonymous with the formation of legal regulations [33]. Such an evolution of ethical studies could be damaging to clinical efforts and to the advancement of science; nonetheless, most scientific organizations have developed guidelines on research

with the aim of promoting "truth and honesty, objectivity and integrity, careful project design with valid methods, recognition of sources, and preservation of confidentiality". It is important to understand that these organizations do not expect rules and regulations to provide comprehensive guidance on ethics; they offer only general information and direction.

Examine the forces acting on biomolecules, such as electrostatics, ionic interactions, hydrogen bonding, and van der Waals forces, for their relevance in protein folding, ion channel functioning, enzymatic catalysis, DNA structure maintenance, and receptor-ligand binding. Emphasize the study of molecular structure and function as part of molecular biophysics. Inspect the kinetic and mechanistic properties of enzymes and receptors, as well as the lengths and times involved.

Survey the capabilities of biophysical techniques in elucidating biochemical and biophysical interactions of including spectroscopy, imaging, biomolecules. crystallography, mass spectrometry, and electrophysiology, calorimetry, and recombinant DNA technology. Investigate physico-chemical properties of enzymes and receptors through enzyme kinetics, receptor binding, and receptor signaling. Explore the role of molecular forces in DNA-protein interactions, DNA-DNA interactions, and membrane formation. Lastly, focus on the mechanics of cell movement, ion channels, the action potential, and the heartbeat.

Biophysics applies the methods and approaches of physics to understand biological phenomena. Biophysicists examine biological systems at all levels of organization, from molecules and cells through whole organisms and populations. Although there is considerable overlap with physics and biochemistry, studies in biophysics are distinguished by their emphasis on asking clearly defined questions that can be answered using established physical and mathematical methodologies. As such, biophysics provides a solid conceptual fundament for subsequent studies in biochemistry, molecular and cell biology, and more specialized biophysical areas such as molecular modeling. Biophysics is inherently interdisciplinary, drawing on developments and insights from myriad associated fields. In fact, one might reasonably argue that physics offers the most natural framework in which to address biological questions.

Being a natural science, biophysics focuses upon the physical fundament underlying all living systems, with components of living systems viewed as forced and/or energetically driven objects moving in prescribed spatial-temporal conformations. A central goal of biophysics is therefore to relate the properties of living systems to one or more of the familiar physical laws. A subsequent implication of the analysis is usually straightforward: since systems comprising similar, if not identical, components tend to behave in a similar way, the dynamic behavior of living systems can be explained through an understanding of the forces operating at the molecular scale. The fundamental physical laws have been categorized into four broad sections: thermodynamics, dynamics, electricity and magnetism, kinetics and mechanics. These sections have been presented separately, although many examples have been chosen to illustrate their convergence and their operation in concert.

Medical physics encompasses the intricate application of physics to the field of medicine, effectively bridging both classical and modern concepts in the realms of physics and biology with various biomedical techniques employed in clinical practice. The physics of medicine is deeply rooted in the comprehensive physical principles that underlie living systems, and it is closely connected to the main groups within medical physics. Its natural development order logically progresses from foundational biophysics to a variety of specialized areas

including medical imaging, radiation oncology physics, medical nuclear medicine physics, and medical health physics. This progression also includes the vital field of biomedical engineering and extends to medical physiological monitoring. Ultimately, it advances towards more complex and advanced applications such as bioinformatics, the evolution of medical decision support systems, patient dosimetry, and rich ethical considerations in the field of medical physics. Furthermore, it innovative possibilities by explores the presented nanotechnology in medicine. The field also includes complex diagnostic advanced therapeutic preclinical systems, applications, and the rapid emergence of new medical devices. Looking ahead, the future developments in medical physics hold exciting potential, including the integration of surgical robots that promise to revolutionize surgical practices and patient care [4, 3, 8, 9]

Chapter - 3

Medical Imaging Techniques

Modern medical diagnostics encompass a wide range of sophisticated imaging modalities, each possessing unique capabilities that allow for the detailed investigation of the internal structures and complex physiological functions of the human body. Among the radiation-based imaging techniques that are most commonly recognized and utilized in clinical practice are X-ray projection, X-ray computed tomography (CT), and various forms of nuclear medicine. These innovative methods are highly effective in sensitively detecting the radiological contrasts that are introduced by high-atomic-number elements, which include substances such as calcium, iodine, and technetium, or radioisotopes. Interestingly alternatively, and perhaps surprisingly, endogenous elements that feature low atomic numbers also play a crucial role in contributing to the radiological contrast, which provides valuable anatomical information during the process of X-ray imaging. On the other hand, ultrasonic imaging presents a compelling alternative for radiation-less imaging, a valuable characteristic since it does not necessitate the use of contrast media. This method proves to be particularly effective for the examination of soft tissues, showcasing its importance in various clinical scenarios. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) employs highly and complex magnetic and radio-frequency sophisticated nuclear-magnetic-resonance technologies interrogate to responses that are emanating from target organs. For instance, parameters like proton density which has a direct correlation with the water content in tissues and relaxation times serve to and characterize the chemical physical environments surrounding hydrogen atoms in the body. Furthermore, techniques such as magnetic resonance angiography and spectroscopy greatly enhance the ability to map circulatory systems and to accurately quantify the chemical compositions of tissues, respectively. These advanced imaging techniques contribute to a more detailed understanding of patient anatomy and function. The advent of parallel MRI has led to significant advancements in accelerating imaging speed, thereby expanding the range and effectiveness of clinical applications. The clinical utilities afforded by these imaging techniques are further enriched through the various atomic, molecular, and physiological perspectives highlighted in Section 3, providing a broader context for their use and potential in modern medicine [10, 11, 12, 10, 13]

3.1 X-ray imaging

The advent of X-rays by the pioneering scientist Wilhelm Conrad Röntgen in the year 1895 revolutionized the field of medical diagnostics in unprecedented ways through the introduction of an entirely novel and groundbreaking modality for non-destructive imaging of internal structures within the human body. The use of high-energy photons, which are capable of penetrating various types of matter, induces varying amounts of transmission through the materials they encounter. This capability enables the generation of intricate and detailed twodimensional or even three-dimensional radiographic pictures, all crafted from captured intensity patterns derived from the X-ray exposure. In these pictures, the darker areas, or regions, correspond to places where a greater number of X-ray photons have successfully passed through the material, indicating different densities and structures present inside. No other physical methods or techniques in medical imaging have had a comparable and transformative impact on human health and the practice of medicine. X-rays have enabled not only early and accurate diagnosis of numerous conditions but have also facilitated therapies and prognosis for prevalent and often deadly malignant tumors, proving to be invaluable in the ongoing battle against cancer and other serious health issues faced by individuals today [14].

3.2 Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)

Nuclear magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is a powerful, non-invasive tool suitable for the structural imaging of human anatomy. It enables the recognition and characterisation of a wide range of pathologies affecting various organs, making it essential in contemporary life-science and clinical research. MRI provides high-resolution three-dimensional images with excellent soft-tissue contrast. More recently, it has evolved towards fast, non-invasive, quantitative acquisition. Conventional methods used for quantitative tissue mapping are typically limited to the imaging of a single parameter per acquisition and often require long scan times to deliver precise results, which is impractical for clinical applications. Strategies enabling simultaneous estimation of multiple tissue parameters in reduced scan times are thus highly desirable.

The combination of physics, engineering and computing has played a crucial role in transforming MRI into a quantitative tool. Emerging methodologies aim at quantifying the concentration and composition of tissue components, such as fat and myelin, structure of organs, microstructure, iron concentration, and metabolic activity, among many others ^[15]. The development of Magnetic Resonance Fingerprinting (MRF) is particularly promising. It is a fast and efficient framework enabling simultaneous quantification of multiple parameters in a single acquisition, making it suitable for clinical translation. It relies on

an advanced inversion approach based on a pseudo-randomised acquisition scheme providing characteristic signal evolutions or 'fingerprints', which are unique to specific combinations of parameters, along with a pattern-matching process based on a pre-computed dictionary incorporating the complete spin dynamics.

At the hardware level, MRI scanners not only operate at different field strengths but are also specifically tailored to meet the imaging requirements of distinct organs or for comprehensive whole-body applications. This specificity helps in enhancing the quality of the images captured and in optimizing the diagnostic process. On the software side, sophisticated model-based (physics-driven) and innovative data-driven (deep-learning) been meticulously designed to estimate methods have quantitative maps directly from the measured data. This advancement in technology allows for reconstruction outputs that significantly outperform classical pattern-matching alternatives, particularly in terms of image quality and their computational complexity, which is an essential consideration in modern healthcare. MRI technology has rapidly gained popularity in clinical settings for the assessment of various conditions, including myocardial function, perfusion, myocardial viability, valvular disease, as well as congenital shunts. These applications have expanded the role of MRI in diagnostics, allowing for a thorough evaluation of cardiovascular health. comprehensive understanding of the integration of spin dynamics, the intricacies of undersampled data acquisitions, advanced compressed sensing techniques, and innovative deeplearning reconstructions has led to the emergence of magnetic resonance fingerprinting. This technique has rapidly become one of the most effective and efficient methods for the simultaneous quantitative mapping of the human body, unprecedented insights into pathology and enhancing patient care and management. Such developments herald a new era of precision in medical imaging, ensuring that healthcare professionals have access to higher-quality diagnostic tools [16, 17, 18, 11]

3.3 Ultrasound technology

Imaging offers numerous Ultrasonic benefits invasiveness, absence of radiation exposure, repeatability, patient-friendliness, capability for three-dimensional interpretation, and real-time visualization making it widely employed both in clinical medicine and research [19]. Consumer ultrasound systems designed for self-checks of physiological functions or body mass are commercially available. The Ultrasonic method has evolved into a vital diagnostic modality in clinical settings [20]. Audio-frequency sound, such as a 440 Hz tone, is generated when a tuning fork vibrates. At the beginning and end of the sound, splashes of higher and lower frequencies mix with the fundamental frequency, and these constitute acoustic brilliance that characterizes a tuning fork's sound. The variety in ultrasound system capabilities is broad, ranging from simple hand-carried multipurpose scanners for abdominal, vascular. and obstetric examinations (the most popular highly specialized instruments application) to designed specifically for musculoskeletal, small parts, and cardiac imaging [21]. Expectedly, price and portability reflect this range of capability; however, they are not the only concerns when selecting equipment purchase. important for Other considerations include warranty coverage, service level, and periodic features and specifications updates.

The popularity of 3D and 4D ultrasound imaging has notably increased in recent years, capturing the attention of various medical fields. While the Oncology market undeniably remains the primary application area for Preclinical Imaging, which

focuses on cancer research and treatment development, other evolving areas are also gaining traction. These areas include Neurology, which deals with the nervous system and its disorders, and Cardiology, which addresses heart-related conditions, among others. Research activities specifically relating to the Examination and *In vitro* Fertilization (IVF) segments have seen a significant uptick since 2010. This rise in research and development efforts indicates a growing interest in improving reproductive health and understanding various fertility challenges. Moreover, the increasing pharmaceutical drugs is anticipated to provide additional support for the growth of preclinical imaging, as new therapies and medications enter the pipeline. Confocal microscopy, a cuttingedge imaging technology that offers real-time 3D imaging down to sub-cellular levels, plays a crucial role in complementing preclinical imaging modalities, traditional groundbreaking studies that span a wide range of applications from molecular biology to detailed animal experiments. This synergy between innovative imaging techniques and expansive research domains continues to drive advancements in the medical field [22, 23, 24]

3.4 Computed Tomography (CT)

Computed Tomography (CT) is broadly employed in engineering and medicine to visualize the interior of objects, as well as small animals and human patients. In the clinical setting, an X-ray source usually emits photons over a polyenergetic spectrum. If this detail is neglected, the measured data are inconsistent and the corresponding reconstructions exhibit noise and well-known artifacts such as beam hardening ^[25]. Another source of inconsistency stems from the fact that the raw measurements are corrupted by two distinct kinds of noise: photon counting noise and electronic noise. Both need to be properly modelled and filtered to ensure good image quality.

An experimental third-generation computer tomograph with fixed source-detector geometry and a turntable mechanism measures objects with diameters up to 200 mm at high spatial resolution and dynamic range ^[26]. Raw data are corrected in accordance with the attenuation law and subsequently processed by filtered back projection. Iterative reconstruction techniques are evaluated and implemented to enhance image quality and achieve dose reduction, supported by modern computing technologies.

Due to the fact that conventional CT scanners are usually large, expensive, and frequently subject to stringent safety regulations, direct hands-on experience with these machines is rarely feasible for undergraduate students. This situation creates a significant gap in practical training for future professionals in the medical imaging field. As a result of this limitation, the development of compact, affordable, and safe imaging systems that operate based on analogous principles can be highly beneficial as valuable teaching aids. A specific prototype apparatus has been designed that employs visible light; it utilizes a laser in combination with a photodiode to effectively scan transparent materials. Additionally, index matching techniques are implemented to prevent any potential attenuation losses that may occur along the beam path during the imaging process. The data acquisition method, coupled with processing through a straightforward back-projection algorithm, enables the system to two-dimensional cross-sectional produce reconstructions. Remarkably, these reconstructions can be generated within approximately 15 minutes, thereby providing results that faithfully embody the underlying physics of X-ray computed tomography, enriching the educational experience for students studying this important field [27, 28, 29, 30, 31].

3.5 Nuclear medicine

Radionuclides are important tools that provide valuable physiological information that complements traditional structural imaging techniques and can also serve as effective therapeutic agents. The application of nuclear medicine therapy brings significant benefits to patients across various medical disciplines and is utilized in a multitude of settings, particularly where other therapeutic options may have been exhausted or deemed ineffective. This highlights the role of nuclear medicine therapy as a vital treatment modality that is poised to play an increasingly important role in the future of healthcare. It is crucial that treatments are carefully optimized for each individual patient, striking a balance between what is tolerable and what is necessary to achieve the desired efficacy. Comprehensive charts detailing exposure levels to patients include a range of absorbed doses targeted toward specific areas, as well as doses received by organs at risk, in addition to calculating whole-body exposure. These charts represent the extent of exposures documented at the beginning of the 2020s. A sustained effort to optimize therapy within these established ranges will continue to be the foundational paradigm that guides the development of future treatments in nuclear medicine [32, 33].

Chapter - 4

Radiation Therapy

Cancer medicine has long relied on the foundational principles of physics that were introduced in previous chapters of study. Radiation therapies play a highly critical role in the field of oncology, employing various types of radiation to effectively control, manage, or even eliminate malignant cells that pose serious threats to patient health. These treatments can be broadly classified into two major categories: external-beam radiation therapy, which focuses concentrated radiation beams from an external source directly at the tumor site to damage cancer cells, and internal radiation therapy, also known as brachytherapy, wherein radioactive sources are carefully placed inside the body, very close to or directly within the cancerous tissue to exert local effects. The precise and accurate calculation of the radiation dose absorbed by the patient is of paramount importance, as it directly influences treatment outcomes, linking dosimetry closely to advanced medical imaging techniques that are crucial for treatment planning and monitoring [2, 34].

4.1 Principles of radiation oncology

Radiotherapy is a specialized medical treatment that applies ionizing radiation in a highly focused manner aimed specifically at cancerous tumors. This technique most commonly utilizes X-ray photon beams produced by advanced medical devices known as linear accelerators, or linacs. In addition to X-rays, various treatment protocols may also incorporate charged particles such as protons and heavier ions, alongside radioactive isotopes, to enhance treatment efficacy and adapt to the specific needs of

patients. As technology continues to advance at a rapid pace, increasingly sophisticated techniques and methods are being developed. These innovations enable the application of both conformal and stereotactic radiotherapy approaches, which allow exceptionally precise targeting of tumors while simultaneously preserving nearby healthy tissues unnecessary radiation exposure. The principles of physics serve as the essential foundation underpinning every stage of this multifaceted treatment, encompassing critical processes such as beam production, transportation, and the intricate calculations required for precise dosage determination. This careful measurement is crucial and is meticulously integrated into clinical procedures to ensure safety and effectiveness. Furthermore, the standards of dosimetry for radiation therapy, which are vital for ensuring both safety and efficacy in treatment, are diligently upheld by authoritative organizations such as the International Commission on Radiation Units and Measurements (ICRU). These organizations play a pivotal role in maintaining consistent quality and protocols across diverse treatment centers, which ultimately contributes to enhancing patient care and outcomes in radiation therapy [35, 36, 37, 38].

4.2 Types of radiation therapy

Radiation therapy uses high energy radiation to kill cancer cells. It can be in the form of photon therapy, using x-rays and gamma rays, or charged particle therapy like proton and electron therapy. Delivery methods include external-beam radiation therapy or internal brachytherapy. Approximately half of all cancer patients receive radiation therapy, with the choice depending on tumor type, location, resources, and patient specifics. Proton therapy is considered the most promising and effective form, while other methods such as intensity-modulated, 3D-conformal, image-guided, and volumetric modulated radiation therapy also show strong performance. Ionizing

radiation removes electrons from atoms and molecules in tissues, damaging DNA and killing cancer cells ^[39].

4.3 Dosimetry in radiation treatment

Dosimetry is a major underpinning of radiation oncology technology and practice. Radiation therapy is the application of ionizing radiation to treat a broad range of medical conditions, mainly cancers. Medical physicists are intimately involved in the design and utilization of procedures to assure the safe and effective use of a variety of radiation therapy modalities in diagnosis and treatment of cancer. The primary forms of radiation treatment are x-rays, including those emitted during nuclear medicine procedures; gamma-rays; protons; other large charged particles such as helium ions; electrons; and neutrons.

Radiation oncology is a mature field, and the physics of therapeutic radiation interactions with matter has been well understood for many decades. The standard radiation beams employed for therapy range in energies from several keV to 250 MeV, depending on the particle type, and the basic physics of the dosimetry process is well understood. Ionization of air in ion chambers yields the most common primary standard for relating machine calibration to absorbed dose and therefore the desired tumor dose. This measurement can be related to the clinical dose delivered in a variety of ways. Dosimetry standards are an underpinning theme.

All radiation treatments are carefully prescribed based on specific target doses that need to be achieved. However, it is equally essential to minimize the dose delivered to healthy tissues in order to avoid causing substantial harm or adverse effects to these areas. The precision and accuracy of the dose delivered to the designated targets, along with the accuracy of positioning, are crucial factors that must always be considered in the treatment process. Dosimetry standards, which ensure that the received

doses conform to the prescribed amounts, are, therefore, a fundamental aspect of quality assurance in radiation therapy. The magnitude and specifics of the doses, which play a significant role in treatment outcomes, will be thoroughly discussed in the next chapter to provide a deeper understanding of their implications [40, 41, 42, 43, 44].

Chapter - 5

Biomedical Sensors and Devices

Medical sensors and imaging devices occupy a uniquely pivotal position within the comprehensive framework of physical principles that govern every aspect of medical science as we know it today. Medical sensors, which come in many forms and types, provide a broad and increasingly diverse spectrum of critical information that plays an undeniably crucial role in both routine clinical diagnosis as well as innovative analytical techniques that are constantly evolving. The ongoing expansion of sensing applications that stem from cutting-edge physics research continuously provides a growing and rich array of information, significantly impacting a continually increasing range of applications across various fields. The main categories of developed sensing technologies broadly cover areas such as biophotonics, electromagnetics, acoustics, nanoparticle-based nanotechnology, fluid-focused sensing, physical-sensor-based systems, audio-video technologies, micro-electromechanical systems, as well as chemical and biological-based sensing mechanisms. The impressive proliferation of wireless sensor nodes, alongside self-powered sensors and advanced implantable devices, is being spurred by the widespread acceptance of a substantial paradigm shift embraced by numerous companies and governing public authorities alike. The accelerated development of collaborative sensors that enable edge-based and AIembedded operations has resulted in significantly large-capacity systems for effective data storage and management, along with the seamless integration of cutting-edge sensing technologies into the ever-expanding Internet of Things (IoT) or CyberPhysical Systems (CPS) environment, which has led to the inception of sensor-driven Blockchain initiatives. This ongoing evolution has enabled a host of innovative applications centered around the real-time sensing of information in far-field environments, particularly beneficial for the analysis of diseases when it comes to routine diagnostics and in-depth investigative work. Yet, it's important to acknowledge that the future placement of various sensors whether they be wearable, noninvasive, implantable, or even injectable within the multifaceted realms of monitoring or analytical regimes may continue to present substantial technical challenges that need to be addressed. The continuity of data sources coupled with intelligent processing of multimodal, multichannel information acquired over extended periods days, months, or even years holds the key to unlocking the full spectrum of capabilities that medical analysis can offer across diverse analytical applications. The strategic use of electromagnetic fields that emanate from individual devices is a vital feature that enables the remarkable capacity of a well-established sensing regime, whereby the parameters of various objects can be measured reliably, sensitively, and across an impressively broad dynamic range through the utilization of a variety of materials. Establishing sensing devices for the next-generation interconnected Praeemptio Medical Systems translates into the creation of advanced networked nodes, complete with inexpensive portable sensing capabilities that are designed to accommodate specific security protocols and privacy-maintaining data algorithms, in addition to smart contracts operating in either centralized or decentralized approaches to ensure maximum efficiency and safety [45].

5.1 Wearable health monitors

Wearable health monitors comprise wearable sensors and varying support structures designed to maintain sensor-skin

contact while enabling daily activities. These monitors facilitate real-time disease detection, diagnosis, and long-term health assessments. The growing elderly population has heightened the demand for continual health monitoring through wearable systems, rendering such monitors a decisive arms race among research groups. Personal calibration is among the main technical challenges, as many symptoms used for disease diagnosis vary among individuals, necessitating advanced sensing technology to capture disease-specific variations. Systematic and data-based techniques can overcome sensor misalignment, a factor that decreases measurement accuracy in health-monitoring applications. Sensory elements and system components must be wearable, sensitive, robust, and durable. Research focuses on miniaturization, low energy consumption, flexibility, and high sensitivity in various environments to fulfill these requirements. Numerous studies have enhanced the durability and robustness of substrate materials, interconnections, and sensors, enabling wearable devices to function in harsh conditions and under continuous interfacing and mechanical strain. Orientationinvariant activity recognition algorithms capable of accurately classifying standard datasets have been developed despite changes in sensor positions. Wearable devices are trending toward smaller, lighter, and higher-performance configurations with more integrated functions, promising broader scope and impact in healthcare.

These devices have an extensive range of healthcare applications. Remote patient monitoring may mitigate the economic burden of recurrent hospital visits and facilitate home care, both of which are promoted by governments and healthcare systems globally. Wearable biosensors allow patients to be monitored outside of hospitals, providing doctors with long-term, continual physiological data that enhance diagnostic efficiency and reduce costs. Devices combining biosensors with actuators

offer treatment solutions through warnings or automatic drug delivery. Similarly, progress in developing medicines and regimens that generate altered physiological signals informs new biological sensing methodological considerations. Motioncapturing wearable devices may address musculoskeletal and skeletal problems and are critical in personalized health and safety applications. Wearable devices can also track daily activities and the location of elderly or dementia patients, potentially ensuring safety as the population ages. These trends culminate in personalized medicine and m-health opportunities, spanning from low-cost consumer monitoring devices to highend diagnostic tools. Several specialists have employed wearables for in-home monitoring to assess disease progression, medication effects, or recovery post-surgery; to log patient data in real time for early diagnostic purposes; and to assist patients with long-term conditions via self-reports and digital feedback. The immediate availability of clinical data leads to deeper patient understanding and higher-quality caregiving [46, 47].

5.2 Invasive medical devices

Invasive medical devices are specialized instruments designed to enter the human body with the purpose of replacing missing or damaged biological parts. These devices encompass a wide variety of options, ranging from everyday tools like catheters to advanced, sophisticated permanent implants that can significantly enhance or restore bodily functions. Most of the devices that are surgically implanted aim to substitute for a missing or impaired biological structure that is crucial for normal bodily functions. Examples of these remarkable healthcare devices include right ventricular-assist devices that support heart function, cochlear implants that provide hearing to individuals with hearing loss, artificial hips that relieve pain and improve mobility, pacemakers that regulate heart rhythms, and stents that

keep blood vessels open; all of these devices tend to dominate key markets within the United States and are increasingly gaining traction in the international arena. Moreover, the global market for such medical devices is projected to experience significant growth, expected to expand at a compound annual growth rate of nearly 10% throughout the next decade, signaling a growing need and demand for innovative medical solutions [48, 49, 50, 51, 52].

5.3 Implantable sensors

Implantable sensors embedded in living organs and tissues detect physiological or biochemical signals that cannot be captured by external devices, making their deployment imperative [45]. Through a collaboration of medical professionals, physicists, and engineers, the most promising applications within the implantable-sensor landscape were identified. The advantage of implantable sensors rests on their proximity to the measurement location, enabling early diagnoses and real-time intervention that are impossible to achieve by external measurement. Further, implantable sensors facilitate the acquisition of biological information that cannot be obtained otherwise and allow continuous monitoring in large animal models.

The primary clinical needs that are being addressed by the innovative development of implantable sensors are focused on the remote detection of medical issues and the prompt intervention in cases of physiopathological deterioration. These needs span a wide range of conditions affecting various physiological systems, particularly within the cardiovascular system. Specific issues such as heart arrhythmia, cardio neuroablation procedures, and monitoring of electrophysiological parameters during the postoperative phase are among the critical areas of concern. Furthermore, in the digestive system, significant conditions including gastroparesis,

Crohn's disease, colorectal cancer, and motility disorders are targeted by these advanced technologies. In addition to cardiovascular and digestive matters, the endocrine system is another critical area of focus, with conditions like diabetes and hyperthyroidism being addressed through the use of implantable sensors. Furthermore, monitoring of sensory organs such as the inner ear and the eyes is enhanced via these sensors, contributing to treatments for sudden hearing loss and the management of intraocular pressure, which is essential for preventing complications related to ocular health. The potential applications of implantable sensors do not stop there; they also extend into the realm of orthopedics. In this field, the sensors play a significant role in the study of bone healing processes and tendon repair mechanisms, providing crucial data that can aid in effective treatment planning. Additionally, in the fields of urology and neurostimulation, these sensors facilitate essential functions like bladder-pressure monitoring, aiding in the understanding of urological health, and understanding joint mechanics, which is crucial for restoring mobility and reducing pain in patients [53, 54, 55, 56]

Chapter - 6

Therapeutic Applications of Physics

Medical applications often employ non-ionizing electromagnetic fields within a broad spectrum ranging from ultraviolet, visible, and infrared light through millimeter waves, radiofrequency fields, low-frequency electromagnetic fields, to static electric and magnetic fields. The frequency range from 0 Hz to 10 THz is particularly relevant for these applications. Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) uses magnetic fields for diagnostic imaging and constitutes a well-established technology with a multibilliondollar global market. Certain modalities complement established diagnostic tools for example, electrosurgery and diathermy provide relief of muscle pain. Electrical stimulation methods, such as vagus nerve stimulation for epilepsy, have gained Other techniques increasing clinical acceptance. experimental with limited clinical evidence; examples include hyperthermia for tumor treatment and pulsed electromagnetic fields for bone healing. Mechanisms underlying many of the therapeutic effects remain poorly understood. The application of these technologies should not cause harm to patients, operators, or bystanders. Safety guidelines have been formulated and are regularly updated by the International Commission on Non-Ionising Radiation Protection and other organizations [57].

6.1 Laser therapy

The use of laser irradiation on biological tissue can produce a variety of effects ranging from mild stimulation to destruction depending on the dose and wavelength ^[58]. In addition to the

different modalities of laser systems, the tissue constituents (e.g., cells, pigments, water) contribute to several biological effects. These characteristics make laser a promising alternative to other potentially therapeutic methods to circumvent complications and/or low acceptance rate [59]. The purpose of this section is to outline the fundamental principles behind the use of lasers in therapy to provide a better understanding of the various Specific examples approaches available. therapeutic procedures focusing on recent applications will follow.

Therapy can be broadly divided into three major categories: clinical, remedial, and recreational. Each of these categories can take various forms, including direct or indirect modalities of treatment. Clinical therapy focuses on diagnosing and treating medical conditions, while remedial therapy is concerned with restoring health following illness or injury. Recreational therapy, on the other hand, engages patients through enjoyable activities that contribute to their overall well-being. Some therapeutic procedures, particularly those in the clinical realm, may involve surgery to either reconstruct or remove damaged parts of the body and effectively control changes that occur post-operative. However, innovative approaches utilizing lasers regenerative capabilities that can help avoid such trauma altogether. In fact, lasers can even be employed to cut, drill, and vaporize tissue in a precise manner, minimizing collateral damage and enhancing recovery. In scenarios where damage has yet to take place, external assistance is often crucial to facilitate recovery. This presents a valuable opportunity for remedial therapy, which can significantly aid healing processes. Since a diverse range of biological pathways are activated during therapeutic interventions, lasers can be utilized strategically to stimulate tissue repair, promote effective hemostasis, and control infection rates, contributing to a better healing environment for patients. Indirect therapy applies non-contact modalities that utilize moderate or low energy sources for the maintenance of health and the promotion of healing in patients through various physical and chemical pathways. Treatments that utilize light sources, such as lasers and Light-Emitting Diodes (LEDs), fall under this therapeutic category and have shown great promise in promoting cellular functions and accelerating recovery processes [60, 61, 62, 63]

6.2 Cryotherapy

Cryotherapy constitutes a widely recognized therapeutic process that involves the careful application of low temperatures, primarily aimed at achieving the reduction of both core and tissue temperatures while also modifying the distribution of blood flow within the body. Its effectiveness is principally attributed to the analgesic benefits it provides, which result from a significant slowing of sensory nerve conduction velocity. This slowing effect helps to alleviate pain and discomfort, making it a valuable treatment option. Historically, cryotherapy has been employed extensively as a method of treatment for various forms of tissue damage and inflammatory responses. In spite of continual medical technology, advancements in the fundamental modalities of application have remained largely consistent over the years; well-established methods such as ice, cold-air, and cold-water therapies continue to be widely used by practitioners today. The utilization of cryotherapy, in fact, dates back several centuries, with the ancient physician Hippocrates suggesting that water therapy could effectively mitigate feelings of lassitude and a sense of energy and vitality to his patients. Contemporary research efforts are now actively focusing on elucidating the intricate underlying mechanisms of cryotherapy and exploring its potential future applications within the realm of medical practice, further expanding our understanding and utilization of this age-old therapeutic technique [64, 65, 66, 67].

6.3 Electrotherapy

Biomedical signaling and actuation enable the functional control of a bioelectronic device in synthetic diagnostic and therapeutic systems for example, a pancreas-on-a-chip might detect both physical pressure and the presence of glucose, then apply an appropriate electrical signal to modulate insulin output. Such approaches could be applied to in vivo physiological control of any large or small, external or implanted therapeutic device.

Aspects of physics clearly emerge as a vital influence and guiding force for all upcoming developments in the realm of medical technology. Within a remarkably extensive body of studies, the work of Sergey Leonidovich experimental uncovers that low-frequency and medium-Rumyantsev frequency low-intensity electric fields may be intricately linked to a multitude of biomedical phenomena and practical applications. These applications can include, but are not limited to, microwave radiation, the creation of fractional pictures, liquids, and various aspects of biomedicine. complex Additionally, electrotherapy devices are versatile instruments that can be utilized to deliver an array of therapeutic stimulations. These stimulations can encompass low, medium, or even highfrequency currents, all aimed at assisting in the alleviation of pain, the reduction of spasms within muscles, and providing much-needed support for musculoskeletal injuries. In particular, high-frequency electrotherapy relies heavily on the use of electromagnetic waves as a means to irritate sympathicotonia and stimulate the body's defensive mechanisms. This activation promotes and enhances the body's natural tissue repair processes. With precisely controlled outputs, this form of therapy can be meticulously focused on specific tissue depths, ultimately aiming to improve treatment efficiency and outcomes dramatically [68, 69, 70, 71]

Chapter - 7

Bioinformatics and Medical Data

Physicists and engineers frequently engage with intricate information and extensive data sets, particularly in the realm of big data, when they are involved in the high-throughput modeling of complex systems as well as in the use of large automated experimental measurements or sophisticated devices. An excellent illustration of these complexities can be found in cancer biology, where the challenges of integrating diverse forms of available data come to the forefront. This data includes, but is not limited to, microscopy imaging techniques, Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) data; as well as various omics fields such as genomics, metabolomics. The fruitful proteomics, and integration of such vast and varied data sources provides fundamental insights into the intricacies of the tumor microenvironment. When this information is combined with mathematical models and advanced computational techniques, the resultant understanding proves to be invaluable for developing innovative therapeutic strategies and diagnostic options. In the field of medicine, the specific processes involved in the acquisition and subsequent processing of information are crucial. These processes encompass an array of advanced medical imaging techniques, uniquely specialized medical devices, the rapidly evolving Internet of Things (IoT), and the cutting-edge wearable technology that is becoming increasingly prevalent in modern healthcare [72].

Chapter - 8

Nanotechnology in Medicine

Advances in nanotechnology possess immense potential to revolutionize the field of medicine through the innovative devices development of submicrometre that unprecedented biological functionality. The various structures, devices, and systems that are meticulously fabricated with nanoscale precision may serve as the foundational building blocks of novel methods aimed at enhancing both diagnosis and treatment processes. Such cutting-edge nanotechnology tools can be regarded as a natural complement to existing macro- and microelectromechanical machines that are progressively beginning to shape and influence the expanding medical-device arena. Nanotechnology takes advantage of a diverse array of techniques that have substantially facilitated the synthesis and precise tailoring of functional materials, allowing for controlled morphology over length scales that range from the apparent molecular diameter, which is approximately 0.2 nanometres, all the way up to several hundreds of nanometres. Notably, nanoparticles possess the remarkable ability to efficiently target tumours owing to a variety of unique characteristics, such as the effect known as enhanced permeability and retention. The significant increase in the surface-to-volume ratio, combined with the minimization of clearance by the reticuloendothelial system, both play crucial roles in enhancing the delivery of therapeutic drugs and genetic material. Furthermore, the efficient process of cellular internalization serves to reduce cellular toxicity and effectively prevents off-target effects, which are often a major concern in therapeutic applications. This synergistic interaction between nanotechnology and medicine heralds a new era where treatment regimens can be more precise and tailored to individual patient needs, ultimately leading to improved healthcare outcomes [73, 74, 75].

Chapter - 9

Ethics in Medical Physics

A variety of ethical considerations are highly relevant to medical contemporary practice. Many physicists in ofconsiderations relate specifically to the use or implementation of a wide range of devices, whether those devices are imaging technologies, therapeutic instruments, sensor systems, surgical tools, diagnostic equipment, or supportive technologies intended to enhance patient care. Operating teams and colleagues within the medical environment are sometimes left unsure of the appropriate, safe, or ethical behaviors when it comes to using or evaluating a device, be it one that is new and unfamiliar or one that is well-established in practice. In such scenarios, the physicist may hold critical knowledge that stems from their experience and thorough understanding of the technologies at hand. Ethical behavior when it comes to handling medical physics data encompasses a broad spectrum of concerns, particularly when such data are shared among practitioners, when they belong to an individual patient, or when the data provide an avenue of interrogation that was not anticipated or included as part of the original consent given by the patient. Broadly speaking, the consideration surrounding device selection, installation, application, and maintenance emerges as another fundamental area of concern for the medical physicist, marking it as a cornerstone of ethical responsibility and concern within their professional domain. The principles of moral values and moral reasoning are often central and at times, they may be dominant in the formulation of policies that govern scientific inquiry and the practice of medical research. Individual virtues that include honesty, scientific rigor, and carefulness are indispensable attributes for responsible practice in the field. Engaging in ethical discourse and pursuing moral education serve profoundly valuable functions, and it is critical that the role and influence of established codes of ethics are seen as pertinent to the profession, acting as a source of reflection and guidance, rather than being perceived merely as a set of rigid rules and regulations that must be followed without critical examination [76, 77, 78, 3, 79, 80]

Chapter - 10

Future Trends in Medical Devices

Medical devices have undergone significant development, transforming the quality and delivery of care. Notable advances include Computed Axial Tomography (CAT), Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI), Positron Emission Tomography (PET), implantable defibrillators, artificial hearts, cochlear implants, laser eye surgery, computer-assisted surgery systems, surgical robots, and endoscopy capsules. Rapid progress in meso, micro-, and nano-scale device fabrication combined with evolving electronics heralds a new generation of advanced devices enabling less invasive, more precise, automated, and effective treatments [48].

The imminent incorporation of Artificial Intelligence (AI) diagnostics and telemedicine imaging into routine health assessments necessitates accompanying technologies that support these paradigms. Consequently, the demand for wearable, portable, implantable, and injectible medical devices, along with surgical robots, is expected to escalate. Research has identified promising nanomaterials such as photoelectric, piezoelectric, thermoelectric, and triboelectric substances to satisfy the energy requirements of electroceuticals. Multimaterial device configurations tailored for maximal efficiency accommodating clinical constraints remain while investigation. Critical challenges including safety, reliability, and longevity must be resolved to realize their full potential. Furthermore, devices capable of effectively extracting physiological signals through integrated signal processing and machine learning algorithms, while concurrently filtering artifacts arising from biological motions or environmental influences, are essential. The development of miniaturized, lightweight, battery-free wireless systems within integrated platforms is imperative for supporting on-site health monitoring applications [81].

Medical devices are instruments, apparatuses, implants, in vitro reagents, or other similar or related articles intended for use in the diagnosis, prevention, monitoring, treatment, or alleviation of disease, as well as for compensation for an injury, investigation, replacement, modification or support of the anatomy or a physiological process, supporting or sustaining life, disinfection of medical devices, and control of conception. Healthcare is a major sector that stands on the foundation of welladvanced medical technology, with medical devices playing a pivotal role in facilitating efficient healthcare services. Medical devices have brought a major change in both the quality and accessibility of healthcare, as they not only assist in the monitoring or treatment of medical conditions but also provide vital information that helps in making major medical decisions. The importance of medical devices lies in the fact that the quality of the available medical device in the healthcare system reflects the overall standard of health care available in the country. Thus, it is a matter of concern for both the population and government authorities to ensure the availability of the best medical devices [1]

The adoption of additive manufacturing for medical devices has gained significant traction recently owing to its ability to produce parts with excellent mechanical properties, design flexibility, and rapid manufacturing capability, allowing ondemand access to custom devices. Three-Dimensional (3D) printing (3DP), or additive manufacturing, denotes a set of layer-

by-layer fabrication techniques initially developed in the 1980s. 3DP technology has found wide applications in various medical fields, including patient-specific surgical instruments, implants, prostheses, anatomical models, tissue engineering, safety devices, drug delivery systems, and educational tools ^[2]. The world is reaching the limits of Moore's law as the scaling of semiconductor transistor sizes ultimately approaches physical and economic barriers. In parallel, the complexity of medical care continues to grow, with increasing diversity in medical devices and the advent of patient-centric care. Therefore, the ability to equip computing capability directly in medical devices is highly desired and has the potential to provide a huge impact on the healthcare industry.

The development of medical devices has been the focus of scientific research, technical innovation, and market expansion for the past several decades. The 1970s witnessed the advent of devices such as the small-group reactive plasma reactor, nanosecond laser pulses, nasolacrimal intubation drills, and pharmaceutical capsules. In the following decade, significant breakthroughs emerged with the introduction of silicon nitride, inflatable drug delivery pumps, warm sealed electromagnetic biotelemetry, cesium chloride substances, interconnected biotelemetry, and fiberoptic catheters. The 1990s heralded innovations like MRI-guided treatments, solid-state chemical sensors, protein arrays, nanosecond pulse multiphoton scanning microscopy, photoacoustic microscopy and tomography, and 3D photoacoustic imaging. The most recent decade has benefited from the reflective multifocal microscope, centralized sterile processing, evoked caloric testing, unidirectional cholesterol crystal emulsifiers, inducer drum rotating equipment, smallangle X-ray diffraction, drug-coated balloons, and hydrogen peroxide-sensitive oxidase transversal flow stripping detection probing [3]. The evolution of medical devices continues, shaped by historical innovations that inform current applications.

Medical devices encompass instruments, apparatus, machines, implants, in vitro reagents, and related articles employed either independently or in combination to diagnose, prevent, monitor, treat, or alleviate disease and injury in humans. In the contemporary landscape, medical devices exemplify the integration of medicine, machinery, electronics, and computing. Accordingly, breakthroughs in any of these disciplines can significantly influence medical device advancements. Threedimensional printing has emerged as a salient additive manufacturing technology bridging medical and engineering domains, facilitating the production of physical organ models, surgical guides, implants, tissue scaffolds, in vitro tissue models, and engineered living systems. 3D-printed medical devices are principally confined to in vitro apparatus and implants, as the fabrication of functional living organs remains at the research frontier [2]. The breadth of medical device applications spans daily monitoring (wearable sensors) and clinical interventions (operative devices and imaging systems). Market segmentation reflects this diversity, with overarching categories such as lifesupporting, life-sustaining, treatment, and in vitro diagnosis. India accounts for approximately 3.5% of the world medical device market. The nation's healthcare sector is undergoing rapid transformation, stimulated by five growth drivers collectively contribute to a trajectory projected to reach \$280 billion by 2025 and elevate the medical device market among the top 20 globally. The medical instruments and appliances segment predominates, followed by diagnostic imaging consumables and implants, and patient aids. Around 70% of the Indian medical device market relies on imports, underscoring the impetus for indigenous manufacturing [1].

Technological development in electronic medical devices has been extraordinary, and new medical device types have driven the growth of the overall medical device market. In addition to healthcare automation, the Internet of Things (IoT) facilitates dynamic access to various devices and systems. Although, innovating digital medical devices is urgent in light of increasing national healthcare costs, challenges persist related to cybersecurity and sustainability [4].

Wireless transmission technology has increased importance of non-contact methods in a variety of research and medical areas. Monitoring, surveillance, and motion detection are some of the non-contact fields where such technology is used; medical technology has adopted the technology and progress has been seen even in hard-to-reach areas such as the human body. Microwave Doppler Radar is one of the wireless non-contact sensors that may be employed to monitor heart rate, respiration, human body motion, gait, and so forth. Application of microwave Doppler radar technology to the medical field should allow continuous non-contact monitoring of human health.PC-based Knowledge Discovery approaches aim to meet the needs of healthcare professionals; by integrating knowledge base and decision support techniques, PC-based KDD can largely fill the gap between data collection and data mining activities and effectively support the knowledge hidden in data from health information systems. In fact, large amount of data is made available by the Hospital Information System and Manual Medical Records. PC-based KDD framework can be adapted to perform data mining on such source of information and can track temporal evolution of medical parameters, thus favoring the discovery of hidden relationships among variables under investigation and decision support. It is easily conceivable that further advances will increase the reach of non-contact sensor technology and its impact in medicine and research. A great advantage of non-contact monitoring techniques becomes obvious once we consider that patients do not perceive these approaches as intrusive and are more inclined to accept such measurements especially when elderly, children or disabled people are concerned. Microwaves can penetrate through clothing or other materials, thus making hidden monitoring possible. Non-contact multi-parameter sensing technology is ideal for "person-centered medicine", where multi-disciplinary approaches for the treatment of whole persons rather than just diseases and commitment to the person-professional relationship become relevant.

Wearable technology is poised to transform healthcare delivery and personalize diagnostic procedures. These devices leverage sensors and wireless communication to collect physiological data, monitor health status, and provide continuous disease surveillance in real time. By enabling sustained oversight between clinical visits, wearables support the management of chronic conditions and facilitate timely intervention.

Customizable, user-centric wearables not only advance treatment design but also promote early diagnosis for patients at home. Their autonomous operation fosters long-term adherence and enhances self-care. To reach this potential, future designs must address outstanding challenges spanning materials, mechanics, device formats, power supply, communication standards, data handling, analysis, security, privacy, and regulatory compliance. Overcoming these obstacles requires interdisciplinary collaboration integrating scientific. technological, and medical expertise. The convergence of progress in these areas will enable the widespread adoption of wearable healthcare platforms, which in turn will generate the extensive datasets needed to refine personalized medicine models and applications.

Telemedicine solutions provide consultations via electronic communication, enabling direct interactions between patients and physicians or remote exchanges of medical information among healthcare providers. Physicians should obtain informed

patients proxies before telemedicine consent from or appointments, and patients should be offered the choice to refuse telemedicine visits. Remote Patient Monitoring (RPM), a subcategory of telemedicine, allows patients to wear devices that transmit health data automatically to their phones or tablets, enabling real-time data sharing with physicians. Devices used for RPM include digital blood pressure cuffs and heart rate monitors. The adoption of RPM is driven primarily by patients' willingness to accept these technologies to reduce trips to the doctor. To maximize telemedicine's benefits and acceptance, health systems must incorporate the technology into their workflows and Electronic Health Record (EHR) systems. Telemedicine platforms should automatically follow the patient's chart into the appointment room while maintaining privacy and security. Advances in Artificial Intelligence (AI) promise to augment user health applications by detecting trends in vital signs, prompting proactive actions, and transmitting pertinent symptom information to providers ahead of scheduled visits Telemedicine refers to the use of modern telecommunication capabilities for medical information exchange between a care provider and patients to improve health outcomes [6]. It has spread rapidly from initial use in extending hospital care remote wards and is now integrated into various healthcare operations. Telehealth solutions significantly impact patient care, quality, and safety and help reduce healthcare costs. Enabling chronically ill and elderly patients to receive care at home decreases hospital admissions and associated risks. Telemedicine provides primary care and specialist-referral services through live video or storeand-forward transmission of diagnostic data. Remote patient monitoring using devices like blood glucose meters or Electrocardiogram (ECG) monitors allows real-time data collection and interpretation, supporting homebound patients. The widespread use of mobile infrastructure improves access in underserved communities and facilitates remote training of local healthcare providers.

The adoption of Artificial Intelligence (AI) and Machine Learning (ML) in healthcare continues to transform diagnostic and therapeutic approaches. Building on progress in automation and efficient data handling, AI systems assist in medical-data analysis, formulation of treatment plans, and development of therapeutics, especially in biomedicine and clinical research. The predictive capacity of ML models contributes to forecasting outbreaks, monitoring spread, anticipating disease and environmental variables such as rainfall and temperature. Major applications also encompass clinical decision support, diagnosis, and tailored therapies. Machine learning techniques, which identify patterns in data and make inferences, depend on extensive datasets and are broadly categorized into supervised and unsupervised learning. Supervised methods utilize labeled data to differentiate between outcomes e.g., benign versus malignant and to anticipate target variables. Unsupervised approaches extract structure and summarize similarity in unlabeled data. Deep learning, a specialized branch of ML involving multilayered neural networks, holds particular promise for medical-image classification, quality enhancement, and segmentation. Architectures such as convolutional and recurrent neural networks, along with frameworks like U-net, are tailored to diverse data types. In oncology, the movement toward precision medicine requires integration of insights extracted from heterogeneous sources, including genomic and clinical datasets, to customize therapeutic strategies for individual patients [7, 8].

Each year the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) issues more guidance and recommendations to clarify the regulatory pathway for medical device manufacturers. A slow regulatory process between product development and commercialization may lead to reengineering of the device,

repeating clinical trials, and possible termination of the project. In the Czech Republic, the medical device sector is undergoing rapid development, with new technologies emerging quickly and increasing patient demands. Small high-tech firms face countless challenges in keeping up with the pace of breakthroughs and leveraging their full potential. Success requires obtaining funding, securing partners, recruiting skilled staff, conducting clinical trials, obtaining approvals, and ensuring post-market surveillance [9].

The Food, Drug, and Cosmetics Act of 1938 mandated that drugs be proven safe before being marketed and granted the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) authority over inspections and advertising. At the time, the FDA's regulatory control was limited to reviewing devices already being marketed. The Medical Device Amendment of 1976 expanded the agency's role in regulating medical devices, motivated in part by the Dalkon Shield intrauterine device catastrophe. The Safe Medical Device Act of 1990 further extended regulatory oversight by requiring postmarket surveillance and adverse event reporting. The FDA Center for Devices and Radiologic Health (CDRH) currently oversees device regulation. When an inventor places a Request for Designation (RFD), the agency reviews the technology to determine whether it is a medical device. Classified devices are assigned to one of the FDA review centers CDER, CBER, or CDRH. Devices are categorized into three risk-based classes, which determine the level of FDA review and regulatory control necessary to provide reasonable assurance of safety and effectiveness [10, 11].

The regulations of medical devices vary globally, and current regulations in China reflect regulatory requirements for medical devices in one of the world's largest markets. Many nations regulate medical devices as products separate from drugs and biologics but do not adopt any recognized standard for a thermally sterilized device, especially for widespread steam sterilization. A single general ISO standard will provide a primary reference to help regulate a wide variety of medical devices and materials.

Few other industrial sectors touch the lives of as many people worldwide as do medical devices. The US-based global medical device industry consists of approximately 8,500 manufacturers and nearly 110,000 products. Worldwide, annual sales of medical devices total approximately \$250 billion. Industry growth runs significantly ahead of GDP growth in the developed and many developing nations where growth rates of 7.6%, 2.6%, and 11.7% are noted for the US, Germany, and India, respectively. Medical device regulations of FDA, Europe, Canada, and Japan and the recent issues on cyber-security, future technology, and global regulations are presented. The introduction of innovative products driven by the advances in new technologies and quality-of-life types of medical devices represents a major portion of the current and projected growth of the industry and its associated markets [12].

Medical devices and IVDs were introduced in India in a regulated manner only after the launch of the Drugs and Cosmetics (Amendment) Act, 2005 but the government has not yet notified any medical device rules under the Act. Hence, the entire range of medical devices continued to be unregulated and these medical devices would continue to remain unregulated until notified otherwise.

The recent transition of China's regulatory environment is also captured in the following analysis. The rapid development of China's economy has greatly promoted the growth of the medical device industry. As a result of this rapid expansion, China has been one of the fastest growing markets for medical devices worldwide. Indeed, some market segments such as orthopaedic implants have grown by as much as 50% per annum. This also implies that there is a fast-growing installed base of medical devices needing post-market support and servicing.

Given the scale of the market, local distributors offer an effective channel and often are the preferred route to market for new entrants. On the negative side, there are risks associated with IP protection and competitive strategies that should be carefully considered. Since the base for product development is China with a strong manufacturing capability and the largest installed base, it is anticipated that China will become a key source of medical devices [1].

The medical device market experienced a growth rate of 6.2% between 2019 and 2021, with projections indicating continued expansion. Although the demand for medical electronics is expected to increase, other factors may decelerate the overall market growth in the near term. While mature economies such as the United States, France, Germany, Italy, and Spain continue to dominate, emerging countries in Asia-Pacific, notably India, Indonesia, Thailand, Vietnam, and Malaysia, are exhibiting the most robust growth prospects. Healthcare systems in Europe and the Asia-Pacific region have prioritized investments in diagnostic imaging technologies particularly X-ray computed tomography, magnetic resonance imaging, and X-ray fluoroscopy demonstrating a commitment to diagnostic accuracy and efficiency [1, 4].

The pandemic accelerated the adoption of intelligent devices that incorporate proximal and remote sensing and data capture, remote diagnostics and processing, and connected data aggregation, analytics, and digital twin systems. Consumer health management platforms, enhanced by artificial intelligence (AI) and machine-learning software, have become mainstream in

personal and clinical care. Challenges associated with pandemicinduced restrictions have propelled the modernization of medical device development to address medical supply shortages effectively.

The expansion of the medical device sector parallels the growth of the healthcare industry, which influences device supply and adoption. Market analyses anticipate a surplus growth of 4% over the global gross domestic product (GDP) for the forthcoming decades [13]. Increasing healthcare expenditure, heightened health awareness, and government reforms continue to drive rapid growth in developing economies. China accounts for a mere 3% of the world market, yet its medical device market expands swiftly. The nation's domestic industry specializes in low-end and medium-volume commodities; the high-end segment remains predominantly supplied by the United States, Germany, and Japan, with 90% of sophisticated devices imported from these countries. The US sustains its position as the preeminent medical device producer, with American companies manufacturing approximately 60% of global output. India's medical device market ranks among the world's top 20 and is growing at an annual rate of 15%, with projections reaching \$50 billion. The medical instruments and appliances segment dominates. followed by diagnostic imaging devices. consumables and implants, and patient aids. Domestic manufacturing holds promise, as roughly 70% of devices are imported [1].

Emerging markets offer significant growth potential for the medical-device industry, which in 2014 posted a compound annual growth rate of 5.6% and a worldwide revenue of \$409.7 billion [14]. Developing countries are relying on imports of high-quality medical products and technology and increasingly require devices that address their distinctive demographic, lifestyle, and environmental challenges [13]. China, for example, represents the

second-largest medical-device market worldwide, with particular opportunities for endoscopic, NICU, and cancer treatment equipment. The country has pursued extensive reforms aimed at speeding regulatory review of devices without compromising safety. Since 2014, the country has improved information traceability, enhanced screening for quality control, strengthened after-market surveillance, and implemented a mandatory reexamination of imported device permits. Because the regulatory requirements favor devices with extensive clinical data, local companies have an advantage in innovating novel devices that anticipate these changes. Despite increased domestic competition, China's medical-device industry is characterized by large numbers of smaller, independent companies that operate in a wide variety of subsectors, making mergers, acquisitions, and joint ventures a focus of government policy.

Patient-centred design has become an important objective mainly for wearable and portable medical devices, which are often used by patients unaided ^[15]. To encourage engagement, devices must not only be physically comfortable but also aesthetically acceptable. Systems that require the patient to interact with a handheld device might be inappropriate for a Parkinson's patient with severe tremor. Pulmonary function testing is not suitable for infants or Alzheimer's patients. A collaborative user-centred design approach involving patients, carers, and clinicians is the most effective and efficient way to identify the final specification ^[16].

Medical devices are evolving towards increased patient centricity, with user experience and accessibility recognized as critical elements in shaping future trends. To realize these ideals, designers and manufacturers must consider the patient perspective throughout the design process. The availability of both quantitative and qualitative feedback from patients can inform and enhance the development of medical devices that

truly reflect user needs. Beyond patient insights, other parameters stemming from the device type and regulatory and clinical considerations also play an essential role in guiding the design of patient-centred solutions ^[17]. Primary concerns shaping this evolution encompass the enhancement of user experience and accessibility, the guidance of development through patient feedback, the assurance of long-term usability, and the management of confidentiality and cybersecurity risks.

The seamless integration of patient feedback into medical devices offers significant benefits. Patient feedback enables accurate assessment of a device's impact on health, satisfaction, quality of life, and comfort. The growing demand for technological innovations combined with competitive industry pressures heightens the need to incorporate end-user insights. Gathering patient data directly enhances the ability of clinicians to make informed decisions and tailor therapeutic interventions. Moreover, real-time data facilitates remote care delivery and introduces new reimbursement models.

Advancements in connectivity allow timely transfer of information through wireless and cloud-based communication. Quantifying patient-reported outcomes (PROs) through smart devices provides valuable information for clinicians, payers, and providers, thereby facilitating early treatment decisions and promoting value-based reimbursement models. Several preconditions accompany these developments, including a system that defines data structure and establishes a legal framework to ensure privacy and security [18].

Medical devices that provide diagnostic, monitoring, and therapeutic functions are designed to improve the quality of care. The development of medical devices that are connected wirelessly or on a critical network is potentially life-saving, since they enable the rapid transmission of information to a healthcare provider [19]. Unfortunately, such connected devices face cybersecurity risks, and are susceptible to all of the vulnerabilities present in other Information Technology (IT) systems [20]. The integration of computers and wireless communications into medical devices has enabled new and sophisticated treatment options. Most office and hospital equipment includes embedded computers, and many devices that previously required direct access are controllable over wired or wireless networks. This hybrid of digital, networking, and physical technologies introduces new vulnerabilities that manufacturers and healthcare providers are only beginning to address. Public perception is an important consideration in safety-critical, mission-critical, or highly regulated products, including critical medical systems. Radiation-emitting products have always been a concern, leading to a range of regulatory bodies and design standards that govern the development process. Regulations designed for mechanical or electronic function may not be adequate to ensure safety when products include software. Security breaches present new challenges in ensuring device safety and effectiveness. The FDA mandates reporting of safety issues that "reasonably suggest that a device has or may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury," but it otherwise does not require manufacturers to reveal design details or known vulnerabilities. Security breaches create a new category of risk that no manufacturer can completely eliminate, and that must therefore be properly managed through design techniques and appropriate resilience and intrusion detection measures.

Use of medical devices is becoming increasingly widespread across care settings, and device manufacturers are investing in product design and development whose future trends promise to shape the health care sector profoundly in the decades to come. To have an idea of this future, it is necessary to reflect on the

innovations of medical devices in the past in order to understand the changes that shaped the products currently available on the market. When it comes to the latter, it is useful to characterize them according to the nature of the product, which are representative of an increasing range of innovations. In terms of future trends, the most persistent developments concern wearable technology, telemedicine and home care, Artificial Intelligence (AI) and machine learning. Their evolution appears to be conditional upon a regulatory framework that is still very much in its infancy. Still, new markets and investors are attracted by the progressive relaxing of the regulatory burden, which would facilitate the spread of personalized products oriented towards patient-centric applications. A broad definition attributes to medical devices the highest level of importance in the delivery of care that any health service can reach in the short term. Security aspects related to these products need to be accounted for from the early design and development stages in order to guarantee the reliability and efficiency that both end users and society expect. The growing use of connected devices unavoidably leads to the increase of the attack surface, with the threat of exposing vulnerable segments of the care process if these new products are not carefully designed. Irrespective of emerging national and international regulations, the available technical standards offer a fundamental set of references to avoid overestimating or underestimating the importance of the risks. Their scope is to be left to the organizations and manufacturers, conscious that the absence of standards does not exempt from the responsibility of coping with the role of medical devices within the care process. Other aspects of responsibility should be addressed, such as the growing difficulty of understanding the origin of an incident in the heavily instrumented health environment and the role of the operator when the system relies on a production chain made of several loosely coordinated entities [20].

Published papers explore specific system and component vulnerabilities but fail to place individual problems in a broader systemic or socio-technical context. Medical devices are cyber-physical systems implanted in health-science infrastructure and controlled by operational or medical personnel, making them subject to new attack classes stemming from properties unique to the medical domain and the device environment, and exposing those environments to wider system-level threats.

The number of medical-device recalls has increased in tandem with the number of cybersecurity vulnerabilities annually reported in these devices, and adverse-health and safety conditions arising from these vulnerabilities may increase going forward as next-generation medical devices incorporate adding functionalities and connectivity. While recognizing security issues associated with medical devices, many priorities compete for attention and, as with other domains, many of the principles associated with information security best practice have yet to translate fully into actionable policies [20].

While new medical device development and innovation will continue to be priorities for the market ^[2], wider questions arise about how the industry can better consider its sustainability and environmental costs ^[21]. Medical-device manufacturers face additional challenges that can hinder a transition to sustainable systems. Sterilized single-use medical devices often require plastic packaging, making lightweighting strategies difficult. Industrial chemical processes (e.g., injection moulding, thermoforming, extrusion, bonding, finishing or machining) are high energy consumers and bring a heightened risk of contamination. Bridging effective industrial and sustainable chemistry and integrating new and recycled materials in the current manufacturing landscape requires recovery and recycling initiatives as well as new, multidisciplinary concepts centred on life-cycle analysis. Medical-device manufacturers must therefore

integrate more eco-conceptions and eco-modes of functioning in industries in which manufacturers operate.

In alignment with global sustainability initiatives and environmental quality imperatives, the medical device sector is adopting eco-friendly materials throughout progressively manufacturing and design phases. This paradigm shift is propelled by manufacturers, regulatory demands, and market forces toward resource-efficient, environmentally compatible production methodologies [21]. Environmental stewardship in development spans material selection, production processes, packaging, transportation, recycling, and working conditions. Advanced research accentuates the potential of natural bio-origin materials for future flexible devices, owing to their inherent abundance, biocompatibility, biodegradability, and ecological benignity [22]. Despite extensive utilization in biomedical applications since the 1990s and subsequent medical device exploration, their application in agriculture remains underexploited. Addressing manufacturing challenges, environmental concerns, health implications, and regulatory compliance remains pivotal to fully leveraging these materials.

The integration of green chemistry methodologies within tissue engineering exemplifies concerted efforts to curtail toxicity, environmental contamination, and health hazards in production. Tissue engineering biomaterial synergizes biologically active molecules, scaffolds, engineering principles, and materials processing to restore damaged tissues or organs [23]. Employing safe, clean materials and procedures throughout the lifecycle enhances patient and environmental safety. Polymeric biomaterials, including polysaccharides (e.g., cellulose, chitosan, alginate) and proteins (e.g., collagen, gelatin), feature prominently in tissue regeneration, with chitosan emerging as a particularly promising agent due to its biocompatibility, biodegradability, chemical functionality, and capacity to support cellular activities. These advances underscore the criticality of sustainable material innovation to satisfy escalating demand for devices with diverse performance and application specifications, propelling solutions that harmonize device efficacy with ecological responsibility.

Medical device worldwide ownership is increasing, with Chinese market growing significantly. Overall size of medical device market is predicted to continuously grow yet pace of growth differs between sectors. Wearable sensors, telemedicine, artificial intelligence, big data and the Internet of Things constitute key technologies likely to have the greatest influence in medical device industry. Taking into consideration those technologies and their utilization in medical devices future means to continue growth and to ensure every country and population access to medical care can be defined. Medical devices should be manufactured with reduced raw materials and sustainable environmentally friendly materials. Waste management strategies, such as incineration and recycling, are essential for minimizing environmental impact. Proper handling and disposal in hospitals remains vital to prevent contamination and environmental pollution [24].

Enhanced analysis of large data sets, combined with high-velocity processing, enables the provision of high-quality and reliable medical services. Due to technological advances, a growing variety of medical devices rely on Big Data processing. Since medical-device equipment records data at very high velocity, lengthy acquisition times are unlikely; nevertheless, a brief observation may not be sufficient to collect the wide range of data generated [25]. Prediction and prescriptive tools significantly improve the quality and efficiency of patient care as well as resource, cost, and risk management while enabling the development of point-of-care and home-based devices [26]. Big Data initiatives in the medical landscape aim to extract

prognostic and treatment information from interconnected databases both locally and globally, by using patients' historical GPS tracing to anticipate likely contact with individuals affected by epidemic diseases. Various parameters, such as current position and lifestyle, body temperature, humidity, and heart rate, are evaluated in conjunction with heterogeneous external data sets to ensure rapid identification and follow-up of exposed individuals. Real-time data acquisition and streaming from complex sensors and continuous-data medical devices allow for immediate extraction of long-term patterns, which is crucial for the timely detection of chronic and mental-health-related conditions. By combining long-term data with context and environmental information, medical devices can offer accurate short- and long-term forecasts of epidemic propagation, comorbidity risks, and support decision-making at both patient and society levels in a predictive and preventive manner. Telecommunications equipment and distributed monitoring systems generate vast amounts of unstructured data, even from simple devices, contributing to the challenges associated with their treatment. Successful exploitation of Big Data sets requires dedicated analytics tools capable of extracting highly relevant information and monitoring quality, security, and reliability issues.

Large-scale data analytics and predictive tools are essential components of future medical device innovation, supporting improved patient outcomes. Technological advancements enable the development of systems that combine multiple sources of data and facilitate rapid clinical decision-making, including precision medicine applications ^[27]. For example, methods that aggregate environmental factors such as weather and air quality, physiological monitoring, and electronic medical or personal health records can provide early warnings of changes in health status. Monitoring devices that assess traits associated with specific diseases will play a key role in individualized care.

Real-time information streams, including data from personal devices and wearable sensors, can be integrated into medical workflows in accordance with regulatory requirements, providing engineers with significant opportunities to enhance care delivery environments. At the same time, Personal Health Records (PHRs) offer patients record ownership, greater demand for provider interoperability, and potential interest from investigators using health and wellness data. Specifically, PHRs are usually designed to provide patients with direct benefits and are becoming both numerous and reliable relative to electronic medical records. This combination suggests that health-care professionals and investigators will prioritize PHRs for integrated health data services in subsequent years.

The proliferation of Big Data and the Internet of Things (IoT) has positioned predictive analytics as a key component in shaping intelligence in industries, notably healthcare [28]. Processes and models developed for predictive analytics have evolved to meet growing technological demands. The healthcare sector has benefited from the rising demand for Big Data in pervasive systems, gaining precise insights into patient symptoms, behavioral patterns, applications, and meteorological influences. Tethered medical devices enable the continuous streaming of data through wireless means, where blood glucose monitors transmit results to caregiver servers and chronic disease monitors provide real-time updates on symptoms such as coughing and temperature fluctuations. Tuned-Predictive Big Data Analytics Models execute monitoring based on the raw data from such devices to detect critical, simultaneous, or frequent symptoms, delivering real-time healthcare alerts.

Robotic systems continue to support patients and health-care providers alike. Surgical robots improve current operations to shorten recovery times and increase safety. Rehabilitation robots improve outcomes for heart and stroke patients and provide

physical and occupational therapy through intense and adaptable training regimens. Socially assistive robots provide physical, cognitive, and social coaching and monitoring in both clinical and home settings. Robots affect medicine and health care by performing surgery; delivering therapy; replacing lost limb function; and providing therapy oversight and motivation that supplement human care. Replicating biology offers opportunities to study the workings of the human body and brain. Societal drivers include decreasing invasiveness, reducing side effects, enabling faster recovery, and developing technologies such as microscale interventions and smart prostheses to improve risk and cost-benefit ratios. The demand for robots in health care stems from their ability to perform safety- or operation-critical tasks that humans cannot do, do not wish to do, or cannot do as well or efficiently. Efficiency remains a critical concern in hospital and home care as staff and caregiver shortages continue. Robots help meet ever-increasing demand, especially as older populations express strong preferences to age at home. Robots also offer a means to address rising health-care costs particularly labor costs and to expand services outside traditional settings, thereby relieving hospital-resource constraints and reducing lengths of stay. The industry trend toward personalized health care may further expand the demand for robots in health care. Maximizing opportunity, however, requires the design and deployment of robots that ensure safety, security, and privacy [29, 301

The inception of industrial robots in the 1960s, exemplified by General Motors' Unimate, marked the beginning of fixed-point robots performing repetitive tasks. The concept of telemanipulation, realized by NASA's development of the Telepresence Manoeuvring System for remote manipulation, paved the way for surgical robots. Driven by the need for remote surgeries and environmental hazards, this technology evolved into practical surgical systems. Today, robots in surgical

operating rooms enhance patient safety and, with appropriate systems and training, improve treatment outcomes for various diseases.

In medical rehabilitation, robots support patients with physical disabilities. Omnidirectional-wheel rehabilitation robots assist patients with limited physical function in walking or standing, while rehabilitation training robots enable physically disabled individuals to regain normal states. Patient-centered rehabilitation robots also provide comprehensive care for those with Alzheimer's disease and physical disabilities, contributing to improved quality of life. The convergence of the Internet of Medical Things, Big Data, and Artificial Intelligence further extends the capabilities of medical robotics.

The increasing prevalence of disabilities has contributed to a growing need for rehabilitation devices capable of aiding patients in regaining lost medical or physical abilities. Rehabilitation robotics is considered crucial in meeting this demand. According to [31], the objective of rehab-robotics is to restore motor functionality through human–robot interaction. Various commercial devices are available, alongside numerous research developments; one example is the CLEVERarm exoskeleton by [32], engineered specifically for upper arm rehabilitation [33] underline the importance of exoskeletons in restoring mobility to individuals affected by leg disabilities. Nevertheless, currently available systems face challenges in portability, high costs, and performance constraints that limit their application in patients' homes.

With over 44 million individuals in the United States requiring assistance due to age or injury, and similar demographics worldwide, an escalating global demand for rehabilitation devices is anticipated.

The Internet of Medical Things (IoMT) represents the Internet of Things (IoT) applied to medical devices and

healthcare applications and services. Also known as IoMT (Medical IoT), these connected solutions comprise software applications and medical devices that connect to healthcare Information Technology (IT) systems through online computer networks ^[34]. Established to meet the growing demands of global healthcare systems, IoMT optimises healthcare delivery by creating secure connections among patients, healthcare providers, and medical devices. This dependable technology supports medical personnel in managing patient information and administering secure digitised healthcare services. The number of connected devices in healthcare is projected to reach approximately 20 billion within the next few years. Consequently, contemporary medical devices are expected to incorporate advanced features such as processors, sensors, controllers, wireless technologies, and remote-monitoring capabilities to enable comprehensive patient data collection and offer enhanced solutions. Connected healthcare systems facilitate rapid and reliable information flow to healthcare professionals, improving patient care and enabling early detection of conditions such as hypertension and asthma. IoMT devices encompass a broad range of applications, including cardiac monitors, electronic wristbands, and smart beds. The primary objective is to diminish manual workloads while increasing precision, efficiency, and profitability through the integration of IoT capabilities into healthcare devices.

Remote monitoring has the potential to vastly improve outcomes in assisted living, patient care, rehabilitation, and athletic performance. The emergence of compact sensors coupled with ease of access to wirelessly connected mobile technologies has propelled remote monitoring to the forefront of healthcare. Although a significant challenge associated with this field is the filtering of large datasets, a suite of real-time wireless sensors for

connected health has been developed. From cuff-less blood pressure to heart rate and SpO2, a full-stack remote patient monitoring system can be used in numerous health and wellness scenarios. Distributed, stored, and analysed data in the cloud are also addressed [35]. The rapid development of affordable portable medical devices, such as insulin pumps and continuous glucosemonitoring sensors, combined with ubiquitous networking resources, enables new paradigms of care where remote monitoring is a key to ensure safety during outpatient studies. This technology also supports remote monitoring in clinical practice for chronic outpatients. For example, young children can be monitored by their parents through remote-continuousacquisition devices. Real-time acquisition and comprehensive integration of clinical parameters of interest are crucial to improve monitoring and accelerate treatment actions [36]. The technology is still developing, and a number of issues remain, including lack of sensors, size of systems, invalid data identification, battery lifetime, bandwidth occupancy, network coverage, and costs. Adoption may be hindered by concerns over privacy, insurance, and cultural acceptance, as well as the need for new workflows in healthcare. Furthermore, the systems generate large amounts of data that must be interpreted; new analysis methods are required to avoid medico-legal issues. Yet continuous monitoring systems for patients from admission to discharge and possibly beyond are expected to become commonplace [37].

Smart medical devices increasingly measure, monitor, and communicate health data. Wearable sensors monitor parameters such as heart rate, body temperature, oxygen saturation, breathing rate, and body movement [38]. The real-time data can be transmitted to and recorded by mobile devices via wireless

modules. Thus, patients receive real-time feedback that enhances their understanding of their condition and motivates behavioral change. Meanwhile, healthcare professionals can access the data to offer personalized advice, early diagnosis, and preventative care. Increasing applications of sensors and wearables in clinical trials could accelerate medical knowledge and therapeutics, but data security and reliability are imperative for acceptance. Many commercial devices already monitor parameters relevant to cardiovascular diseases.

Medical manufacturers target biosensors for real-time monitoring, prevention, and personalised medicine. Wearable biosensors extract clinical information from physical signals such as heart rate, blood pressure, skin temperature, respiratory rate, and body motion [39]. They provide continuous, noninvasive monitoring for health evaluation and preliminary diagnosis. The wearable devices include watches, clothing, bandages, glasses, contact lenses, and rings, which are portable, easy to operate, and adaptable to body and environment. Advances in electronics, biocompatible materials, nanotechnology created implantable devices for diagnosis and prognosis, including electronic systems that monitor vital signs continuously. The current devices are usually battery-powered, with onboard signal processing and interfaces like Bluetooth, RFID, NFC, or infrared to external equipment. The connectivity enables remote monitoring, supporting long-term management at home and in the community. The elderly, who have more health issues requiring ongoing surveillance, especially benefit, along with rising healthcare costs worldwide. The review considers clinical applications, technical barriers, and potential evolutions of wearable devices.

Uncertainties over the ethical implications of future medical devices show insufficiencies in how emerging digital health technologies have been addressed to date. Cybersecurity with respect to patients' data protection and informed consent to sharing their health data provide some of the most serious challenges to achieving full ethical development, yet without philanthropic support and cooperation of industry and regulators it is not clear how these problems can be solved. Regulatory practices employed today were not formulated with emerging technologies in mind and, given that they do not currently specify how to conduct an ethical analysis, appear to require updating to account for the development of projects that incorporate medical modalities beyond devices and their lifecycle.

Understanding how to evaluate the ethical properties of emerging medical devices poses a major challenge. The medical device industry regularly trails academia and fundamental science in transitioning new technologies toward practical demonstrations, subsequently incurring setbacks that can force later-stage research and manufacturing to terminate. Insufficient early-stage analysis of ethical or similar concerns, external pressures, and lack of resources to address emerging challenges all contribute to the problem, and few companies maintain the capacity to perform analyses involving anticipated technological advances that could enable the early selection of promising research directions. At the same time, rising demand for ethical compliance and expanding regulations globally place increasing economic burdens on medical device firms, especially those with limited financial backing such as start-ups; parallel initiatives underway on blockchain based AI architectures highlight the demand for solutions to circumstances for which compliance, compliance costs, and deployment mechanisms undefined."The application of ethical principles to relevant stakeholder groups such as patients, medical device companies, surgeons, and hospitals encompasses economic, regulatory, sustainability, and societal factors, and temporal and spatial attributes that shape assessing the ethical footprint of the aggregation. Past realizations provide high-level guidance regarding tradeoffs. Motivated by shortcoming of current approaches such as the inability to forecast and address uncertainties that may arise during the research and early development stages and the need to complement risk, responsibilities, and relationship centered analyses, Anticipatory Technology Ethics (ATE) emerged as a catalyst." [40] Future growth in digital medicine towards more versatile electronic device design may reverse the longstanding trend against transitioning novel research innovations to engineering due to the ability of these approaches to integrate photonic and subcellular processes, so that the future of digital medicine also includes a rebirth of interest in engineering and physics.

Medical devices are defined as instruments used to diagnose, treat or prevent diseases or other conditions. The path to develop a successful device is complex and time consuming and encompasses a variety of stages including research, design, development, regulatory clearance or approval and marketing [41].

Devices have contributed greatly to the improvement of life expectancy and quality of life. Examples of devices around the theme of disease management and treatment or rehabilitation include blood glucose meters, heart rate monitors, oximeters, blood pressure monitors, neurostimulators, insulin pumps, surgical robotics systems, pulse generators and pacemakers [42].

These technologies are enabling many product manufacturers to reinvent themselves. The communication between medical devices, infrastructure and the operators offers means to increase efficiency, accountability and patient safety, enabling a patient-focused approach to healthcare. The future is toward miniaturization, all integrated in a single smart device in a plug

and play model with cloud and remote connectivity among the future of medical devices. During the last decade, the medical device industry has seen the rise of technological innovation and patient-centred services that go well beyond the traditional instrument manufacturers.

Advance market monitoring is a critical tool in the medical devices industry of today. It enables managers to spot potential new growth opportunities, emerging threats, competitor strategies, new trends and innovative ideas and development.

Informed consent marks an essential stage within the development of new medical devices. It formalizes the notification procedures that inform patients about risks, alternatives, benefits, and the goals of a procedure. Thus, it protects individuals from interventions they would find undesirable [43].

Informed consent had its origins in the more general notion of consent to treatment. For much of history, a physician's right to treat a patient remained virtually unchallenged and was assumed at first contact. This progress was marked by regulations enacted during the plague in 1665 which required physicians to receive consent prior to surgery or dissection, so long as the procedure in question was perceived to carry "risk" [44]. The scope of permissible medical activity narrowed during the 20th century. Lawsuits including Pratt v. Davis (1905) and Schloendorff v. Society of New York Hospital (1914) established standards for protecting bodily integrity and a person's right to decide what is to be done to their body. Salgo v. Stanford University in 1957 adopted the phrase "informed consent". It stated that the failure to disclose risks and alternatives could result in a cause of action.

Lonely heart and other case studies Medical devices represent a major growth opportunity for SMEs as they account for 44 per cent of reported inventions, exceed patenting in pharmaceuticals, and echo the success of fields such as photonics and audio/visual technology in terms of returns to performers [45]. This section presents case studies of devices that exemplify future trends or groundbreaking for scientific, technological, economic, regulatory, or societal reasons. Information was gathered during interviews with the research and development directors of leading UK designers and manufacturers of medical and diagnostic equipment. The pandemic accelerated the adoption of a miniature multi-parameter telemedicine monitor, developed as the Nevermind project. This Opportunity Medium Enterprise (SOME) device was led by a future-MED member, showcasing the ingenuity of the UK medical-device sector. The 'Lonely heart' project produces a medical telecommunications monitor that can provide ECG, BP, temperature, oxygen saturations, weight, activity, archived electronic health compatible and record. telemedicine monitoring whilst being occluded by polar ice or on a volcano, transmitting data at least every 20 minutes. The design and business awarded a FutureMED special mention in the Healthcare Innovation Top 100 [4].

Medical devices' scalability, complexity, and pace of innovation grow exponentially as medical knowledge expands. New cross-disciplinary technologies offer opportunities to combine devices to create more capable systems plus improvements to usability and cost. Established devices such as drug infusion pumps and dialysis machines are becoming more sophisticated and sought; an aging population is the major factor behind the estimated U.S. medical-device market growth of 6.4% annually through 2020. Sophisticated measurement systems – such as optical, acoustic, and chemical sensors and specialized medical probes—are now more readily miniaturized and used in such areas as augmented-reality surgery and smart prostheses. Low-cost sensors enabling wellness monitoring now serve as a major research focus.

In many such areas, industry and regulation must balance innovation against safety and reliability. The U.S. Food and Drug Administration's definition of medical devices (encompassing everything from tongue depressors to nonimplantable instruments to computer software for medical imaging) serves as a major reference point.

Case Study: Current medical applications of robotics traceable metrological standards, validated testing protocols that simulate the end-use environment, standardized reporting, and electronic-health-reporting standards are needed. Phantoms supporting traceability to standards organizations are essential to confirm the basic metrology. Standardized phantoms and testing protocols facilitate system validation and comparison. Range validation across different patient sizes and tissue types is necessary. Designs must incorporate standardized anatomic landmarks to evaluate process capability. Phantoms must have X-ray absorption characteristics similar to human tissue. Standardized test environments and protocols that replicate operating rooms should include devices that might cause interference. Clinical investigations need systems supporting large-scale, standardized data retrieval to understand device impact on outcomes. The specifications must address anatomic site, referencing method, component positioning, navigation technology, and calibration status. The use of robotic systems in surgery is expected to grow, thereby improving patient outcomes. Teleoperated robots enhance visualization and dexterity. The daVinci System is the only commercial version widely used in cardiothoracic, urologic, gynecologic, and general abdominal surgery. CAD/CAM robots execute preoperative accurately. Emerging compact, bone-mounted, or handheld robots show promise [4].

This chapter provides a series of brief personal case studies illustrating specific approaches to the design, development, and implementation of innovative medical devices. These studies underscore the critical importance of addressing, early in the process, a range of structural and systemic issues that must be carefully considered to maximise the likelihood of success and, ultimately, product adoption [46].

The available literature on the engineer-centred aspects of medical device design and development is relatively slight. Large companies, including production-orientated organisations outside the domain of medical design, have good systematic processes in place; however, these are often not well disseminated. Conversely, very small companies and start-ups often lack access to best practice guides. There tends to be a rather wide gulf between academic material and that produced by standard professional sources, such as the British Standards Institution. A major hurdle to be overcome in moving forward in device development is gaining a better understanding of the ways in which medical devices are conceived, designed, developed and ultimately delivered to the end-user organisation/ecosystem [4].

Early conceptualisation of stakeholder requirements and a vehicle for communicating and exploring these remains a key issue ^[47]. The process of early engagement through a specific adoption-oriented approach with a representative panel of stakeholders during the design and development phases prior to concept form exploration, through concept refinement, and onto technology evaluation can facilitate; (i) the discovery of product, organisational, societal and service innovation potential and (ii) the understanding of the attributes relating to each proposed solution that might influence eventual adoption.

Future Challenges in Medical Device Industry The successful development of medical devices is influenced by factors such as innovativeness, financial planning, user input, and employee engagement ^[9]. Small high-technology firms frequently face

difficulties in keeping pace with emerging technologies and market demands. Barriers to development include lack of funding, the high costs of implementation and certification, and challenges in obtaining necessary information. Collaboration with clinical settings is critical during the research and development phase, as it helps ensure that devices meet the rigorous standards required to maintain high-quality medical and nursing care.

The Indian healthcare market offers a pertinent example of both the potential and challenges in the medical device sector [1]. Valued at US\$128 billion with an expected growth rate of 12% over the next four years, the market relies heavily on medical devices for screening, diagnosis, treatment, and monitoring. The Indian medical-device market ranks among the top 20 worldwide, with an annual growth rate of 15% and a projection to reach US\$50 billion by 2025. Approximately 70% of these devices are imported, highlighting substantial opportunities for local manufacturing. Nonetheless, the development and approval process remains complex and highly regulated under the Indian Medical Device Rules (IMDR) 2017 and subsequent amendments. These regulations encompass classification, registration, manufacturing, labeling, sales, and post-market surveillance. European Union regulations, such as the Medical Device Regulation (MDR) and In Vitro Diagnostic Medical Device Regulation (IVDR), assign responsibility for device safety to national authorities and require reassessment and certification of medical devices. Clinical evaluation is essential in the EU for demonstrating safety and conducting ongoing monitoring. The EU has extended the MDR transitional period by one year, while IVDR implementation proceeds as scheduled. The updated guidelines resemble the more stringent US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) requirements, which have a global influence on approval processes. In India, clinical-evaluation requirements apply primarily to certain devices

development, and post-market obligations are comparatively limited.

Five major technological barriers impede progress in the medical-device field. These include the absence of vetted standards for medical-data communication and control, the lack of a suitable plug-and-play system architecture, the absence of requirements for an integrated clinical-environment ecosystem (encompassing data-logging, data security, and device authorization), questions regarding the capability of vendors to provide standalone products that function safely within a larger system, and regulatory criteria that allow compliance via platform testing [4].

The envisioned architecture should enable autonomous, safe device operation and support smart alarms, clinical decision support, closed-loop control, and reconfigurability. To validate the suitability of standards, architecture, and ancillary devices with clinical requirements including privacy and security mandates new measurement technologies and testing protocols are required. Vendors must demonstrate that standalone products operate safely within a system, while regulations should evolve to accommodate platform-based compliance methods.

Financial constraints are a primary obstacle to the development of innovative medical technologies. The inability of companies to secure adequate financing during the development stage often curtails research and development activities, with the lack of patient access resulting in unrealized clinical benefits [48]. In the pediatric medical device sector, where the market size is relatively small, securing investments necessary to develop high-quality technologies at a reasonable price becomes particularly arduous. When market size restricts growth, economies of scale shrink, and innovation rates typically suffer. Moreover, conventional financing approaches tend to favor projects based on profitability, whereas medical devices particularly for

pediatric applications are often developed in response to a specific medical need or for altruistic reasons rather than solely for profit. This discrepancy underscores the need for alternative financing mechanisms that align development incentives with patient-centric goals. Engineering students often receive extensive training in design, but knowledge of other relevant topics, such as intellectual property protection, regulatory pathways, reimbursement strategies, and venture financing, is frequently inadequate. Recognizing the critical influence of uncertainty and risk during the inventive phase on the search for funding, scalability, and return on investment, some academic programs now emphasize not only technical skills but also the acquisition of business-related expertise to better prepare innovators for the realities of medical device development

Medical devices constitute instruments, apparatus, machines, implants, in vitro reagents, or other similar articles designed for diagnostic and therapeutic purposes. Contemporary healthcare hospital in-patient, out-patient, self-care, long-term care, and home environment relies heavily on a diverse array of these products.

The 20th century's discoveries and technology developments led to a remarkably varied pantheon of medical devices for deterring disease, diagnosing malady, and treating affliction ^[4]. Notable examples include (CAT), (MRI), (PET), implantable defibrillators, artificial hearts, cochlear implants, lasik surgery, surgical robots, and diagnostic imaging. Rapid advances in meso, micro-, and nano-scale technology are catalyzing a new generation of advanced medical devices that are highly integrated, less invasive, more accurate, automated, and effective. The list of candidates is extensive, encompassing microfluidics and gene-based chips for diagnostics; biochips for biological and chemical detection; neural electrodes, among others.

Despite such progress, many problems remain in performance, and standards, sensors, reliability. difficulties impede timely translation from concept to prototype to clinical practice, render concomitant modelling and predictive simulation of physiological response more difficult, and inhibit the development of (plug-and-play) capability. Meeting these challenges requires concerted efforts to foster the development of suitable sensor systems and integrated multi-functionality, conduct rigorous validation (e.g., accelerated-life testing) and quantitative qualification (for example, against appropriate numerical models), and establish uniform and widely accepted standards of measurement.

The future outlook accordingly depends on 1) the capacity to identify critical metrology and standardization needs, 2) the ability to generate quality, traceable, and comparable data with adequate knowledge bases and associated numerical models, and 3) the willingness of stakeholders to put forward implementation plans for new technology in a timely manner.

Addressing and overcoming these challenges will play a crucial role in facilitating the widespread deployment of future devices that will serve to complement the remarkable quantum leaps achieved throughout the preceding decades of scientific advancement. The body of literature that covers these various topics is both extensive and still in a state of rapid maturation, yet their anticipated significance to the field of medicine within the next two decades is projected to be quite substantial. In alignment with a physicist's perspective which emphasizes the importance of overarching principles and methodologies over the mere resolution of specific technical challenges laying out a precise technological roadmap at this juncture seems rather premature; nevertheless, the general impetus for developing such innovative instrumentation remains undeniably clear and compelling.

10.1 Artificial intelligence in diagnostics

Artificial Intelligence (AI) assists clinicians in making more efficient diagnoses. Computer-Aided Diagnostic (CAD) schemes employ machine learning, kernel methods, and deep learning for image classification and lesion detection. Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs) surpass traditional feature-based machine learning, enabling real-time diagnostic support, such as during endoscopy [82]. Benign and malignant lesions can be delineated from CT images through CNN and voxel classification. Leadership in medical imaging applications of AI is evolving among commercial entities worldwide.

Interest in AI integration grew before the COVID-19 pandemic, which prompted rapid adoption due to heightened demand for immediate results, examiner shortages, and social-distancing imperatives. AI-based platforms like IBM Watson, PathAI, and Proscia assist with diagnostics and therapeutics. Clinicians seek affordable, reliable, large-data products, preferably mounted on commercially available, easy-to-maintain workstations. Other AI methods also contribute [83].

10.2 Telemedicine innovations

Telemedicine provides health care services at a distance through the use of a variety of media. It has been shown to save travel time and cost, provide care faster, increase access, and improve service quality as well as to enable remote training and education. The envisaged rapidly ageing community around the world will impose an even larger burden on the resources and infrastructures of health care providers. The need for fully integrated solutions to offer ambient assisted living and remote care and monitoring is thus obvious. Many initiatives to achieve some or all of these goals have been undertaken around the world, often involving many disciplines and areas of expertise. The resultant solutions have also been diverse, varying from

generic frameworks to integrated platforms to specialized applications. The rapid progress in few years foretell an exciting future.

The existing literature in this rapidly evolving field can be rather scattered and uncoordinated, making it difficult for researchers and innovators to build upon the available knowledge in the pursuit of novel ideas with wide impact. Besides, there has been little systematic attempt to convert the high-level objectives of telemedicine into practical and affordable implementations. Capturing the key challenges and issues and presenting the broad architectural elements leading to effective and pervasive telemedicine can fill the void and motivate further innovative concepts and realizable designs.

Distant education in medical physics has traditionally been via the asynchronous mode, using online resources such as virtual libraries, conference talks, educational tools, and sitelicensed online tutorials provided by the IAEA, the RSNA, and the ACR. The synchronous mode has been seldom exploited, with very few applications including the Webex meetings and the live webcast of the RSNA annual refresher course seminar. Although live webcast has become increasingly common, the sessions are often reported as recorded talks owing to a general unfamiliarity with the requirements of remote interaction.

Synchronous training provides a wide array of distinct advantages, including the opportunity for interactive problem solving and engaging in hands-on procedures that are essential for treatment planning, dosimetry analysis, and conducting physics demonstrations. Additionally, other essential procedures, such as linac quality assurance or source calibration, can also be effectively performed remotely by utilizing portable video cameras. This setup presents very few technological impediments, further enhancing its accessibility. The continuous

evolution of a comprehensive, routine delivery capability in the synchronous mode is crucial for addressing the global shortage of specialized expertise. It effectively optimizes the deployment of existing resources and ensures that training opportunities remain flexible and adaptable for both individuals and larger groups across multiple sites [84, 85, 86, 87, 88]

10.3 Robotics in surgery

The deployment of surgical robotics has become diverse, applied to tele-operation, where the robot acts as a slave manipulator, and to 'hands-on' modes, whereby it functions in concert with the surgical tool, enabling augmented dissection or multi-hand assistance. Real-time medical imaging techniques including MRI, ultrasound, spectroscopy, and optical coherence tomography deliver significant advantages by visualizing subsurface anatomy and tissue characteristics. Preoperative images can also guide surgical planning and rehearsal. Design of MRI-compatible robots is particularly challenging due to the presence of a strong magnetic field and high-power radiofrequency pulses, which preclude the use of conventional electric motors and ferromagnetic components. Stringent constraints related to robot size, workspace, geometry, and environment interactions govern the design process. Mechanism design and control strategies are particularly critical, as the introduction of robotic assistance often enhances dexterity facilitating more precise and minimally invasive procedures. Robotic technologies demonstrated been at cellular scales under also experimental conditions. Rehabilitation robots tend to be sizable and confined to clinical settings, whereas extended and frequent therapy sessions offer greater therapeutic benefits to many patients. Replicating the complexity of human joints in dexterous prosthetic hands remains difficult, given the current size and weight of actuators, which impede comfortable and natural use. Miniaturization efforts are similarly constrained by the dimensions of electromechanical actuators; their advancement is thus pivotal to realizing compact, energy-efficient systems that can deliver high force with low impedance, closely emulating biological actuation mechanisms ^[89, 90].

Chapter - 11

Case Studies in Advanced Diagnosis

Diagnostic modalities have shown significant progress over the last several years, combining traditional tools with sophisticated resources to manage medical practice without compromising patient quality of life. Emerging methods include imaging examinations at low and ultra-low doses, highly configured measurement devices both implantable and wearable and bioinformatics tools for data integration and pattern extraction. Most device technologies seeking clinical translation in oncology either emerge from the laboratory or result from the adaptation of existing multidisciplinary products. These advanced devices yield detailed information on prognosis, cancer nature, and therapy, enabling formalized problems regarding dosage and strategy for radiotherapy and chemotherapy. The use of implantable telemetric sensors in the treatment of chronic diseases has been discussed at length, especially in long-term applications such as cancer. Additional instrumental options for environmental control and support detection in hospital settings have been investigated. Research questions surrounding metallic implants are frequently addressed in relation to diagnosis treatment options. The working principles of such instruments comprise sensors, actuators, and transmission systems, processes of advanced materials synthesis, and micro-nano manufacturing processes. Technological advancement benefits medicine in surgery, laser aesthetic therapy, cryotherapy, magnetic hyperthermia, anticancer targeted therapy, and other therapeutic areas [10]

Chapter - 12

Regulatory and Safety Aspects

Investigations highlight the pivotal role of Positron Emission Tomography (PET) in oncology, particularly for the staging and follow-up of malignancies. The unique physical interactions of static magnetic fields with live tissues and anatomical structures underscore prevailing concerns pertinent to Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) and Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) examinations [91]. Therapeutic strategies involving hyperthermia effectively enhance tissue oxygenation in tumors deprived of adequate blood flow, thereby amplifying the efficacy of ionizing radiation. The occurrence of adverse events related to permanent tattoos and cosmetics necessitates further exploration regarding the implications of faint or sub-visible metallic contaminants. Several studies probe the influence of ionizing radiation from medical and other sources, alongside exposure to Extremely Low Frequency (ELF) electromagnetic fields, on mutation rates. ELFs the occupational environment report display positive associations with genotoxic effects; however, definitive evidence linking them to cancer and adverse reproductive outcomes remains elusive. The advent of sophisticated biomedical equipment underlines the need to address safety and performance standards [92]. Conformity with evolving regulatory frameworks, such as Council Directive 2013/59/Euratom, obliges European Member States to elevate national regulations, procedures, and accordingly._key equipment standards considerations encompass newly introduced definitions, an eye-lens dose-limit, protocols governing non-medical imaging exposures

examinations of asymptomatic individuals, alongside systematic review and updating of diagnostic reference levels. Provisions also mandate concurrent dosimetric data inclusion within therapeutic and diagnostic documentation, delineate responsibility allocations, enforce comprehensive recording and analysis of both accidental and unintended exposures, and facilitate population dose-assessment methodologies stratified by age and gender. The recalibrated basic safety standards integrate recommendations from the International Commission Radiological Protection (ICRP) promulgated in 2007, revised directives dating to the first quarter of 2013, extensive scientific literature accumulated since 2007, and operational feedback sourced from stakeholder communities. Principal modifications encompass redefined terminologies, updated eye-lens protection criteria, the incorporation of occupational dose considerations within justification and optimisation frameworks, and targeted regulations governing radiological procedures administered to asymptomatic cohorts [93].

Chapter - 13

Interdisciplinary Approaches to Medical Physics

Medical physics is generally defined as an applied branch of physics that is considerably concerned with the application of foundational concepts, fundamental theories, and various methods from physics to the field of medicine, particularly towards the ASAP treatment of diverse human diseases. Medical physicists play a vital role in contributing to translational research, which connects basic science with real-world clinical applications by effectively serving as a crucial bridge between physicists, life scientists, and clinicians in health care environments. The emergence of new types of medical imaging technologies and innovations in radiation oncology, as well as the development of advanced drug-delivery systems, have all contributed significantly to the domain of medical physics. The details and implications of these advancements are thoroughly described in Chapters 3 through 7 of the text. Moreover, the number of medical devices that have been created utilizing Xrays, gamma rays, ultrasound, lasers, and other technologies for diagnostic and therapeutic purposes has increased both dramatically over recent years. This increase has led to the implementation of complicated chemical and biological processes. Therefore, gaining a comprehensive understanding of the fundamentals of biophysics, medical data analytics, and informatics, as well as addressing ethical concerns, is essential for providing a thorough description of medical devices and their applications in health care. This chapter takes a closer look at the pioneering figures behind medical devices, explores the realm of bioinformatics, delves into the exciting possibilities within nanotechnology, and critically examines ethics to encourage the reader to expand their thinking beyond just the foundational aspects of medical physics. This holistic view will stimulate further inquiry and deeper understanding of how these interconnected fields contribute to advancing medical technology and treatment [1, 94, 95, 96, 97] Medical physics is reviewed globally from the viewpoint of education and certification programs [84].

Chapter - 14

Conclusion

An ever increasing and substantial number of computational and experimental studies consistently demonstrate the remarkable ability of various living organisms to effectively detect and respond to fields and signals that extend well beyond those that can be assimilated by our current biosensor and transduction apparatus, which were likely created during the extensive process of evolution, employing only classical electromagnetic fields. Many studies notably associate these advanced detection capabilities with numerous quantum phenomena that are intimately related to the nonlocality of consciousness, as well as the concepts of quantum coherence and entanglement observed in biological systems. In addition, these studies often explore vacuum processes or scrutinize the observation of collective effects that ultimately involve the establishment of coherent states within these organisms. Within the biological context, coherence established between negative enthalpy, which exists inside the living organism, and entropy, that is inherently related to the surrounding biological environment, creates a dynamic process of self-organization. This self-organization is facilitated through the bioavailable energy and the generation of information that is closely associated with crucial events occurring within the organism. A thorough and fundamental understanding of such phenomena can significantly influence and enhance the applicability of diagnostic techniques and therapeutic devices in various fields.

References

- 1. G. S. Ibbott, A. Chougule, J. Damilakis, S. Tabakov *et al.*, "Medical physicist certification and training program accreditation," 2022. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 2. S. H. Benedict, "Book Review," 2004. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 3. T. Beyer, D. L. Bailey, U. J. Birk, I. Buvat, C. Catana, *et al.*, "Medical physics and imaging—A timely perspective," *Frontiers in Physics*, vol. 9, 2021. frontiers in.org
- 4. N. Gambo and M. Shehu, "The Role of Diagnostic Medical Physics in Medicine: An Overview," Sahel Journal of Life Sciences, vol. XX, no. YY, pp. ZZ-ZZ, 2024. fudutsinma.edu.ng
- 5. S. Usmonov, "ADVANTAGES OF INTERDISCIPLINARY PHYSICS EDUCATION IN MEDICAL STUDIES," Modern Science and Research, 2025. inlibrary.uz
- 6. L. Ghimire and E. Waller, "The Future of Health Physics: Trends, Challenges, and Innovation," Health Physics, 2025. [HTML]
- 7. S. W. Smye and A. F. Frangi, "Interdisciplinary research: shaping the healthcare of the future," Future healthcare journal, 2021. sciencedirect.com
- 8. H. Jung, "Basic physical principles and clinical applications of computed tomography," Progress in Medical Physics, 2021. koreamed.org
- 9. P. Davidovits, "Physics in biology and medicine," 2024. [HTML]

- 10. S. K. M Shadekul Islam, M. D. Abdullah Al Nasim, I. Hossain, D. Md Azim Ullah *et al.*, "Introduction of Medical Imaging Modalities," 2023. [PDF]
- 11. S. Hussain, I. Mubeen, N. Ullah, "Modern diagnostic imaging technique applications and risk factors in the medical field: a review," BioMed Research, vol. 2022. wiley.com
- 12. B. Abhisheka, S. K. Biswas, B. Purkayastha, D. Das, "Recent trend in medical imaging modalities and their applications in disease diagnosis: a review," Multimedia Tools and Applications, vol. 2024, Springer. [HTML]
- 13. J. Oyeniyi and P. Oluwaseyi, "Emerging trends in Alpowered medical imaging: enhancing diagnostic accuracy and treatment decisions," International Journal of Enhanced, 2024. researchgate.net
- 14. C. Hristovski, "Design and Characterization of an 8x8 Lateral Detector Array for Digital X-Ray Imaging," 2011. [PDF]
- 15. A. Monga, D. Singh, H. L. de Moura, X. Zhang *et al.*, "Emerging Trends in Magnetic Resonance Fingerprinting for Quantitative Biomedical Imaging Applications: A Review," 2024. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 16. V. S Vassiliou, D. Cameron, S. K Prasad, and P. D Gatehouse, "Magnetic resonance imaging: Physics basics for the cardiologist," 2018. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 17. T. C. Arnold, C. W. Freeman, B. Litt, "Low-field MRI: clinical promise and challenges," *Journal of Magnetic Resonance*, vol. 2023, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 18. R. Heiss, A. M. Nagel, F. B. Laun, M. Uder, *et al.*, "Low-field magnetic resonance imaging: a new generation of breakthrough technology in clinical imaging," *Investigative Radiology*, vol. 2021. [HTML]
- 19. R. Raman, "Three-dimensional acquisition and display system for ultrasonic imaging," 1997. [PDF]

- 20. T. Wagai, "Studies on the foundation and development of diagnostic ultrasound," 2007. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 21. B. Starkoff, "Ultrasound physical principles in today's technology," 2014. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 22. M. Ogdi, E. M. Tawashi, I. A. Hakami, T. M. Hayan *et al.*, "... advances in the field of medical imaging, such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), computed tomography (CT), and ultrasound imaging (Ultrasound)," Development, 2023. core.ac.uk
- 23. M. Zhang, R. Li, S. Fu, S. Kumar, J. Mcginty, *et al.*, "Deep learning enhanced light sheet fluorescence microscopy for in vivo 4D imaging of zebrafish heart beating," Light: Science & Applications, vol. 14, no. 1, 2025. nature.com
- 24. R. Po, W. Yifan, V. Golyanik, K. Aberman, "State of the art on diffusion models for visual computing," Computer Graphics, 2024. [PDF]
- 25. G. Papanikos and B. Wirth, "A non-convex variational model for joint polyenergetic CT reconstruction, sensor denoising and material decomposition," 2022. [PDF]
- 26. D. Heinemann, A. Keller, and D. Jannek, "Experimental computer tomograph: investigation and implementation of iterative reconstruction techniques and modern computer technology," 2015. [PDF]
- 27. V. Daley, O. Paetkau, and M. Paetkau, "Index matching computerized tomography," 2021. [PDF]
- 28. B. Hunt, A. J. Ruiz, and B. W. Pogue, "Smartphone-based imaging systems for medical applications: a critical review," Journal of Biomedical Optics, 2021. spiedigitallibrary.org
- 29. M. H. Tran and B. Fei, "Compact and ultracompact spectral imagers: technology and applications in biomedical imaging," Journal of biomedical optics, 2023. spiedigitallibrary.org

- 30. P. J. Pickhardt, "Abdominal Imaging in the Coming Decades: Better, Faster, Safer, and Cheaper?," Radiology, 2023. rsna.org
- 31. M. A. Chavarria, M. Huser, S. Blanc, P. Monnin, "X-ray imaging detector for radiological applications adapted to the context and requirements of low-and middle-income countries," *Review of Scientific Instruments*, vol. 2022. aip.org
- 32. M. Konijnenberg, K. Herrmann, C. Kobe, F. Verburg *et al.*, "EANM position paper on article 56 of the Council Directive 2013/59/Euratom (basic safety standards) for nuclear medicine therapy," 2021. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 33. B. Il Kim, "Radiological Justification for and Optimization of Nuclear Medicine Practices in Korea," 2016. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 34. M. G. Herman, "Book Review," 2006. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 35. M. Webster, A. Podgorsak, F. Li, Y. Zhou, H. Jung, J. Yoon, "New Approaches in Radiotherapy," Cancers, 2025. mdpi.com
- 36. X. Yi, M. Shen, X. Liu, and J. Gu, "Emerging strategies based on nanomaterials for ionizing radiation-optimized drug treatment of cancer," Nanoscale, 2021. [HTML]
- 37. Z. Zhang, X. Liu, D. Chen, and J. Yu, "Radiotherapy combined with immunotherapy: the dawn of cancer treatment," Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy, vol. 7, no. 1, 2022. nature.com
- 38. L. Gong, Y. Zhang, C. Liu, M. Zhang, "Application of radiosensitizers in cancer radiotherapy," *International Journal of...*, 2021. tandfonline.com

- 39. C. Collins, "Radiation Therapy Medical Physics Review Delivery, Interactions, Safety, Feasibility, and Head to Head Comparisons of the Leading Radiation Therapy Techniques," 2017. [PDF]
- 40. M. Hamad Al Darmaki, "Achievable accuracy of radiation dose measurement for linear accelerators using different protocols," 2016. [PDF]
- 41. I. J. Das, S. L. Dawes, M. M. Dominello, B. Kavanagh, *et al.*, "Quality and safety considerations in stereotactic radiosurgery and stereotactic body radiation therapy: An ASTRO safety white paper update," *Radiation Oncology*, vol. 2022, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 42. T. Kron, C. Fox, M. A. Ebert, "Quality management in radiotherapy treatment delivery," *Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Oncology*, vol. 2022, Wiley Online Library. [HTML]
- 43. T. J. FitzGerald, D. Followill, F. Laurie, *et al.*, "Quality assurance in radiation oncology," *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*, vol. 2021, 2021. wiley.com
- 44. E. T. Samara, N. Fitousi, and H. Bosmans, "Quality assurance of dose management systems," Physica Medica, 2022. sciencedirect.com
- 45. D. Yogev, T. Goldberg, A. Arami, S. Tejman-Yarden *et al.*, "Current state of the art and future directions for implantable sensors in medical technology: Clinical needs and engineering challenges," 2023. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 46. K. Guk, G. Han, J. Lim, K. Jeong *et al.*, "Evolution of Wearable Devices with Real-Time Disease Monitoring for Personalized Healthcare," 2019. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 47. A. K. Yetisen, J. Leonardo Martinez-Hurtado, B. Ünal, A. Khademhosseini *et al.*, "Wearables in Medicine," 2018. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov

- 48. J. C. Chiao, J. M. Goldman, D. A. Heck, P. Kazanzides *et al.*, "Metrology and Standards Needs for Some Categories of Medical Devices," 2008. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 49. B. D. Abdellatif, "Medical instrumentation," 2024. ummto.dz
- 50. L. Wang, K. Jiang, and G. Shen, "Wearable, implantable, and interventional medical devices based on smart electronic skins," Advanced Materials Technologies, 2021. google.com
- 51. E. Klein, "What does it mean to call a medical device invasive?," Medicine, . springer.com
- 52. J. Cornejo, J. A. Cornejo-Aguilar, M. Vargas, and others, "Anatomical Engineering and 3D printing for surgery and medical devices: International review and future exponential innovations," BioMed Research, vol. 2022, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 53. D. Yogev, T. Goldberg, A. Arami, S. Tejman-Yarden, "Current state of the art and future directions for implantable sensors in medical technology: Clinical needs and engineering challenges," APL, 2023. aip.org
- 54. G. Gaobotse, E. Mbunge, J. Batani, and B. Muchemwa, "Non-invasive smart implants in healthcare: Redefining healthcare services delivery through sensors and emerging digital health technologies," Sensors International, 2022. sciencedirect.com
- 55. M. Veletic, E. H. Apu, M. Simic, J. Bergsland, "Implants with sensing capabilities," *Chemical*, vol. 2022, ACS Publications. ntnu.no
- 56. O. Panahi, "Smart Implants: Integrating Sensors and Data Analytics for Enhanced Patient Care," Dental, 2025. jdentistry.com
- 57. M. O. Mattsson and M. Simkó, "Emerging medical applications based on non-ionizing electromagnetic fields from 0 Hz to 10 THz," 2019. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov

- 58. S. Parker, M. Cronshaw, E. Anagnostaki, V. Mylona *et al.*, "Current Concepts of Laser–Oral Tissue Interaction," 2020. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 59. M. A. Hadis, S. A. Zainal, M. J. Holder, J. D. Carroll *et al.*, "The dark art of light measurement: accurate radiometry for low-level light therapy," 2016. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 60. G. E. Romanos, "Laser Fundamental Principles," in *Advanced Laser Surgery in Dentistry*, Wiley, 2021. vasiliadis-books.gr
- 61. D. J. Coluzzi, Z. Al Timimi, and M. Saleem, "Digitization and dental lasers," in *Digitization in Dentistry: Clinical Applications*, 2021. [HTML]
- 62. Y. Walia, R. Varshney, and P. Singh, "Laser cutting, drilling, and piercing," in *Laser-Assisted Machining*, 2024. researchgate.net
- 63. L. Ji, L. Zhang, L. Cao, J. Zheng, J. Wang, and W. Han, "Laser rapid drilling of bone tissue in minimizing thermal injury and debris towards orthopedic surgery," Materials & Design, vol. 202, 2022. sciencedirect.com
- 64. R. Allan, J. Malone, J. Alexander, S. Vorajee *et al.*, "Cold for centuries: a brief history of cryotherapies to improve health, injury and post-exercise recovery," 2022. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 65. S. Y. Kwiecien and M. P. McHugh, "The cold truth: the role of cryotherapy in the treatment of injury and recovery from exercise," European journal of applied physiology, 2021. researchgate.net
- 66. D. Whaley, K. Damyar, R. P. Witek, "Cryopreservation: an overview of principles and cell-specific considerations," Cell, vol. 2021. sagepub.com
- 67. C. Garcia, J. Karri, N. A. Zacharias, and A. Abd-Elsayed, "Use of cryotherapy for managing chronic pain: an evidence-based narrative," Pain and therapy, 2021. springer.com

- 68. A. Mariscotti, "... of human exposure (including interference to implantable devices) to low-frequency electromagnetic field in modern microgrids, power systems and electric ...," Energies, 2021. mdpi.com
- 69. K. S. Park, "Biological Effects of Electricity and Electromagnetic Field," in *Humans and Electricity: Understanding Body Electricity*, 2023, Springer. [HTML]
- 70. FP Costa, B. Wiedenmann, E. Schöll, "Emerging cancer therapies: targeting physiological networks and cellular bioelectrical differences with non-thermal systemic electromagnetic fields in the human body," Frontiers in Network, 2024. frontiersin.org
- 71. H. Wu, L. Yang, H. Liu, D. Zhou, and D. Chen, "Exploring the efficacy of tumor electric field therapy against glioblastoma: An in vivo and in vitro study," *CNS Neuroscience & Therapeutics*, vol. 27, no. 12, pp. 1502-1512, 2021. wiley.com
- 72. M. Alber, A. Buganza Tepole, W. Cannon, S. De *et al.*, "Integrating Machine Learning and Multiscale Modeling: Perspectives, Challenges, and Opportunities in the Biological, Biomedical, and Behavioral Sciences," 2019. [PDF]
- 73. K. K. Y. Wong and X. L. Liu, "Nanomedicine: a primer for surgeons," 2012. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 74. D. A., L. H., C. I., and F. R., "Targeted and theranostic applications for nanotechnologies in medicine: Cell-surface engineering with magnetic nanoparticles for regenerative and bioanalytical applications," 2017. [PDF]
- 75. T. Limongi, F. Susa, and V. Cauda, "Nanoparticles for hematologic diseases detection and treatment," 2019. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov

- 76. T. Kaarsberg, "Ethics, Physics, and Public Policy," 1996. [PDF]
- 77. K. R. G. Hendrickson, T. Juang, A. Rodrigues, and J. W. Burmeister, "Ethical violations and discriminatory behavior in the MedPhys Match," 2017. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 78. T. C. SERIES, "Guidelines on Professional Ethics for Medical Physicists," www-pub.iaea.org, . iaea.org
- 79. L. Hadjiiski, K. Cha, H. P. Chan, K. Drukker, *et al.*, "AAPM task group report 273: recommendations on best practices for AI and machine learning for computer-aided diagnosis in medical imaging," *Medical Physics*, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 1-20, 2023. wiley.com
- 80. Y. K. Babale and E. N. Atoi, "Ethical concerns and risk perceptions associated with the application of genetic engineering," KIU Journal of social sciences, 2021. researchgate.net
- 81. R. P. Magisetty and S. M. Park, "New Era of Electroceuticals: Clinically Driven Smart Implantable Electronic Devices Moving towards Precision Therapy," 2022. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 82. R. Hamamoto, K. Suvarna, M. Yamada, K. Kobayashi *et al.*, "Application of Artificial Intelligence Technology in Oncology: Towards the Establishment of Precision Medicine," 2020. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 83. Y. Kumar, A. Koul, R. Singla, and M. Fazal Ijaz, "Artificial intelligence in disease diagnosis: a systematic literature review, synthesizing framework and future research agenda," 2023. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 84. M. Woo and K. H. Ng, "Real-time teleteaching in medical physics," 2008. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 85. A. N. Mumuni, "Medical physics and radiography training model tailored for resource limited settings," Medical physics, 2023. mpijournal.org

- 86. E. Samei, "Medical physics 3.0: A renewed model for practicing medical physics in clinical imaging," Physica Medica, 2022. physicamedica.com
- 87. B. Singh, P. K. Dutta, and C. Kaunert, "Synchronizing neural networks, machine learning for medical diagnosis, and patient representation: looping advanced optimization strategies assisting experts," in *Hybrid Information Systems: Non ... *, 2024. [HTML]
- 88. M. Saturday, "Grand ABCD: Professional Symposium; Presidential Symposium on Med Phys Workforce," pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov, . nih.gov
- 89. A. M. Okamura, M. J. Mataric, and H. I. Christensen, "Medical and health-care robotics," 2010. [PDF]
- 90. J. Troccaz, "Medical robotics: where we come from, where we are and where we could go," 2008. [PDF]
- 91. G. Brix, E. Nekolla, and D. Nosske, "Risks and Safety Aspects of MR-PET," 2013. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 92. A. Tavakoli Golpaygani, "Why Should We Have a Periodic Safety and Performance Program for Medical Devices," 2019. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 93. A. Torresin, S. Evans, D. Lizio, L. Pierotti *et al.*, "Practical recommendations for the application of DE 59/2013," 2019. [PDF]
- 94. M. Endo, "History of medical physics," Radiological Physics and Technology, 2021. [HTML]
- 95. W. D. Newhauser, D. A. Gress, M. D. Mills, *et al.*, "Medical physics workforce in the United States," *Medical Physics*, 2023. nih.gov
- 96. P. Davidovits, "Physics in biology and medicine," 2024. [HTML]

97. J. W. Burmeister, N. C. Busse, A. J. Cetnar, *et al.*, "Academic program recommendations for graduate degrees in medical physics: AAPM Report No. 365 (Revision of Report No. 197)," *Medical Physics*, vol. 2022. nih.gov